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National
Health Fund
ANNUAL REPORT

CONTINUOUS GROWTH
AND DEVELOPMENT

Vision
Statement
To reduce the financial burden of healthcare on
the public, in Jamaica.

Mission
Statement
To reduce the financial burden of healthcare in Jamaica,
by providing funding and information, selected healthcare
benefits, pharmaceuticals and medical supplies to the public
sector, through the utilisation of cost efficient and customerfriendly systems.

Statement
of Values
At the National Health Fund, we are committed to
the highest standards of honesty, integrity and quality.
In discharging our responsibilities, we will be guided by
the highest moral and ethical standards and will at all
times demonstrate the highest levels of professionalism.
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Minister of Healthʼs
Message
The Ministry of Health (MOH) remains committed to
alleviating the country’s disease burden through
improving the quality and efficiency of healthcare
available in the public-sector. Numerous public health
initiatives have been undertaken by the Ministry, with the
support of established organisations and strategic
partnerships to prioritize national health needs with the
greater aim of increasing overall life expectancy in the
island.
The National Health Fund (NHF) has ensured that
programmes have been implemented to support the
ministry’s targets during the 2016-2017 financial year.
The use of the organisation’s resources continues to
facilitate infrastructural projects, expansion of
pharmaceutical benefits and the promotion of healthy
lifestyles for all Jamaicans.
The attention given to the pharmacy services for this
financial year has been tremendous. The Public Private
Sector Pharmacy Partnership Programme has increased
service delivery and is addressing the access to basic
health services. This model has proven that innovative
ways can be found to involve the private sector in the
delivery of government-sponsored health services to
serve all Jamaicans.
Enrollment in the two Individual Benefits programmes
rose by 4.1 per cent compared to the previous year,
reached a total of 732,144 individuals. The doubling of
subsidies for children and the increase in subsidy for
approximately thirty percent of the drugs on the
NHFCard also assured increased access to medication
for many Jamaican families.
As the statutory body charged with providing financial
support for healthcare, the NHF, in keeping with its
mandate but without compromising the organisation’s
viability, has supported critical infrastructure. A total of
$1,950.74M was approved for Institutional Benefits
projects. I look forward to the completion of the NHF
funded projects now under way, such as the A & E
Departments of Linstead and Princess Margaret
Hospitals. In addition, considerable progress has been
made on the construction of the two cancer treatment
centres at the St. Joseph’s and Cornwall Regional
Hospitals which are due to be open to the public in the
upcoming financial year. They will give the nation greater
access to cancer care.
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Hon. Dr. Christopher Tufton, MP

The NHF gave valuable support to the ‘Jamaica Moves’
National Campaign as we worked towards achieving
behavioural changes in our population to reduce the
risks of Non-Communicable Diseases. In addition the
health promotion activities carried out by the NHF,
including providing over 100,000 screening tests, the
execution of another workplace wellness competition
and the school wellness programme are commendable.
The health needs of the population are many and the
NHF has demonstrated its capability in utilising its
expertise, technology and communications to
strengthen the sector. I thank the Board of Directors,
Management and Staff of the National Health Fund for
their hard work and diligent service. Through
partnerships and collaboration, we will continue to
ensure that we are on a path moving forward in
providing quality health services to the population.

Hon. Dr. Christopher Tufton, MP
Minister of Health
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Chairmanʼs
Statement
The National Health Fund (NHF) has demonstrated again
this year that it is a leading government agency that is
dedicated to carrying out its mandate. During the
2016-2017 financial year, several advances were made in
the operation of the NHF pharmaceutical supply chain,
investment in healthcare infrastructure and healthy
lifestyle promotion, as well as the strategic re-alignment
of the public-sector pharmacy services across Jamaica
and the individual benefits programme.
The health sector has been operating within the
constraints of limited resources and working creatively
must become the norm in order to meet the health-care
needs of the population. The introduction of the
Public/Private Sector Pharmacy Partnership programme
represents an innovative approach that is increasing the
access of pharmaceutical care to public patients. The
development and implementation of the pilot
programme by NHF up to the end of the financial year
showed that this was a workable plan that was welcomed
by providers and public patients alike.
The Benefits Programmes of the NHF remained strong
with the granting of $1.95B for Institutional Benefits and
the enrollment of 39,849 new beneficiaries for the
Jamaica Drug for the Elderly Programme and NHFCard.
Among the projects funded were the Accident and
Emergency departments of the Linstead and Princess
Margaret hospitals and the two cancer treatment
centres.

Gregory Mair
Chairman
The achievements outlined in this annual report are a
result of the leadership and dedication of the NHF team
as they continue to work hard to strengthen the
Jamaican health services and contribute to bringing
them on par with international standards.
I am pleased to hold the responsibility of chairing the
NHF board and I look forward to the future, as the Fund
aims to meet and exceed expectations of clients and
stakeholders in serving the country.

Customer satisfaction is key in strengthening the public’s
trust and this statutory body continues to deliver great
customer service to clients. The certification of the NHF
to the new ISO9001:2015 Standard shows great
commitment to continuous improvement, and the
certification of the Pharmaceutical Division for the first
time must be lauded as it ushers in a new era of modern
operations in this area.
The continued growth in non-communicable diseases
(NCDs) requires not only the provision of medications
but also an intense focus on health promotion. NHF
performed well in initiating and maintaining healthy
lifestyle education programmes for schools, workplaces
and communities, such as the Work-It-Out Weight Loss
Challenge and the provision of over 100,000 screening
tests across the island. Going forward, health promotion
must be scaled up to meet the challenges of NCDs.
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Gregory Mair
Chairman

CEOʼs Overview of the
Financial Year 2016-2017
During the 2016-2017 financial year, the National Health
Fund (NHF) led the way in steering numerous initiatives
that contributed to the further development of Jamaica’s
health sector. The year saw strong performances from all
areas of the organisation as the outstanding staff from
the Fund worked towards reducing the financial burden
of health-care for Jamaicans.
Transforming the delivery of pharmacy services for
public-sector patients was prioritised during the year
with the pilot of the Public Private Pharmacy Partnership
Programme. Seventeen private pharmacies were
engaged to provide prescription services to
public-sector patients. This initiative facilitated greater
access to pharmaceutical care and contributed to the
reduction in the overall waiting time for public patients.
Participating private providers have lauded the progress
of the partnership and surveys showed that customers
were satisfied with the services received.
The Pharmacy Expansion programme continued with the
addition to the Drug Serv brand of nine public sector
pharmacies in St. James and St. Catherine. Up to March
31 2017, $29M was spent on the construction of a new
pharmacy operating from Greater Portmore Health
Centre. This amplifies our commitment to improve
service standards and provide quality service for our
customers. During the year, 1,278,119 scripts were
processed through our Drug Serv pharmacies with 4.4
million prescription items dispensed.
The year was also marked by three major advancements
in the management of pharmaceutical supplies and
medical sundries. Firstly, the completion of renovations
to the NHF pharmaceutical warehouse at a cost of $63M
was followed by the introduction of a new Warehouse
Management System to advance efficiency and accuracy
in the movement of supplies. Thirdly, there was the
successful certification of the warehouse operations, in
conformity with the world’s most-recognised quality
management ISO9001:2015 standard from the
International Organization for Standardization. This will
further drive the modernisation of services in this area of
operations. Needless to say, the previously certified
processes at NHF also received certification to the new
standard.
The Individual Benefits Programme continued to grow
with the addition of 28,843 new beneficiaries bringing
the number of beneficiaries enrolled to 732,144. This
represents a 4.1% increase compared to the

5

Everton W. Anderson, JP
Chief Executive Officer
previous year. Rising out-of-pocket expenses borne by
beneficiaries were also addressed during the period with
the implementation of a 100 per cent increase in drug
subsidies for individuals under 19 years of age. Further,
subsidies were increased for approximately 30 per cent
of the drugs covered by the programme. Significant
work was also done in designing a new JADEP
Programme
aimed
at
improving
access
to
pharmaceuticals for persons over the age of 60.
Investments in health-care continued in 2016-2017 and a
total of 41 projects were supported at a value of $1.95B.
The infrastructural projects included the construction of
the A & E Departments of Linstead and Princess
Margaret hospitals, the expansion of the operating
theatre at the St. Ann’s Bay Hospital and the funding of
the Cardiac Unit at Bustamante Hospital for Children. In
addition, the NHF was proud to finance and manage the
project for the two cancer treatment centres at the
Cornwall Regional and St. Joseph’s hospitals. The
centres represent a significant shift in cancer treatment
and will provide Jamaicans affected by cancer with major
improvement in radiation therapy with Linear
Accelerators technology. At the end of the year, the
project for the Cornwall Regional Hospital Centre was
advanced and it is projected that both centres are on
track for completion in the next financial year.
During the year, strong focus was placed on improving
human resource capacity of the organisation and
improving staff morale. A total of $14M was invested in

training and various events were organised to build
cohesion across the organisation.
Health promotion activities were aligned with the
Ministry of Health (MOH) Programme to reduce
non-communicable diseases and support was provided
for the vibrant new initiative Jamaica Moves. There was
a focus on promoting wellness in schools, communities
and in the workplace which helped to motivate persons
to improve and maintain their health while reducing their
health risks. Over 100,000 screening tests were done
during the year at Community Health Days, health fairs
and in schools. Support was given to the MOH and the
Education, Youth and Information Ministries for the
Sustainable School Feeding Pilot Project and the
development of a new curriculum for Healthy Eating and
Fitness for primary and secondary schools. The year was

also marked by solid partnerships in health promotion
through sponsorship of various events and conferences
and Memoranda of Understanding with three major
groups.
Towards the end of the year, work was far advanced on
the development of a 5 Year Strategic Plan for the
organisation which will chart the path that NHF will play
in financing health care in Jamaica and contributing to
improving the health of the population.
The progress made during this year would not have been
realised without the dedicated staff who continue to
demonstrate their commitment to NHF’s mission. The
Fund remains focused on serving the Jamaican public
and will strive to continuously innovate to satisfy our
clients, stakeholders and partners to advance Jamaica’s
healthcare services.

Major Corporate Objectives (2016-2017)
FOCAL ISSUES
1

Waiting Time

TARGETS SET

ACHIEVEMENTS

An average waiting time of 2hrs at Drug Serv
Pharmacies and 15 mins for the Individual
Benefits Division.

The average waiting time for
March 2017 was 1 hour and 57
minutes.

An average waiting time 15 minutes for the
Individual Benefits Division.

Waiting time for Individual
Benefits Division is below 15
minutes.

2

Customer Satisfaction

An average 85% customer satisfaction across
the organisation.

Report due to be finalised April
28, 2017

3

Certiﬁcation to ISO9001:2015

Certification to ISO9001:2015 achieved by
March 2017 for the Individual Benefits and
Warehouse Divisions.

ISO Transition-Certification
Audit successfully completed.
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National Health Insurance Plan

Board approval of National Health Insurance
Plan roadmap by March 31, 2017.

Roadmap approved by the
Board
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Innovation

Implementation of 'Same Day Service' benefit
cards at all National Health Fund Help Desk
outstations across the country.

Same Day Service
implemented at all Help Desks
and May Pen Drug Servs.

Implementation of a Scheduling Drug Refill
mechanism at Drug Serv Pharmacies by
March 2017.

Implemented at all the
locations
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Cancer Care Treatment Center
(LINAC)

Complete the Cancer Care Treatment Center
at CRH by January 2017.

Construction works completed
and Linear Accelerator
installed.
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Renovation of Pharmaceutical
Warehouse

Complete renovation of NHF Warehouse by
March 2017.

Renovations completed.

8

Cost control and budget
management for 2016-2017

Administrative and Operating Expenses are
maintained within the approved budget for
2016-2017

6

Administrative and Operating
Expenses YTD as at 31 March
2017 is below budget by
$421.05M

Providing Individual
Healthcare Benefits
The National Health Fund (NHF) continues to positively impact the quality of life for
beneficiaries of all ages and of varying economic statuses, through the NHF health card
and the Jamaica Drug For the Elderly Programme (JADEP).

Enrollment for 2016-2017
Total Enrollment for Programmes

16 CHRONIC
ILLNESSES
COVERED

28,843
NEW
ENROLLES

732,144

Beneficiaries
Enrolled

365,431

NHF CARD PROGRAMME
JADEP

Beneficiaries
classified as
being active.

38.5% Male
61.5% Female
10 CHRONIC
ILLNESSES
COVERED

91,493 new cases
during year reaching
a total of 1,267,799

NHFCard
Enrollment
by Cases

24%
Glaucoma

NEW
ENROLLES

Vascular

10%

Hypertension

Asthma

11,006

5%

7%

3%

6%
Ischaemic
Heart

Diabetes

12%

14%

4%

Benigh
Prostatic
Hyperplasia

Other

15%
Arthritis

High
Cholesterol

NHF Card
JADEP
Approved NHF
Card Claims
4,117,865

84%

Utilised the card at
least once

claims activity
rose by 2.4%

Approved JADEP Claims
327,857

44,786 beneficiaries were able
to access JADEP benefits at over 260
participating Providers islandwide.

Claims

The financial year ended with the total expenditure for
NHFCard benefits being $4.18B, representing an
increase of 6.9% over the previous year. The average
monthly expenditure was $348.64M.
NHFCard claims activity rose by 2.4% and the number of
claimants increased by 4.3% over the performance of the
previous year. A total of 4,117,865 NHFCard claims were
approved, and 241,897 beneficiaries received benefits.
Eighty-four per cent (84%) of beneficiaries have utilised
their card at least once since the inception of the
programme.
Four conditions, including hypertension, diabetes, high
cholesterol and glaucoma, accounted for 72% of the
total subsidy paid during the financial year.
The average subsidy rate for the NHFCard programme
fell by three percentage points compared with the
previous period. This was primarily due to the eroding
effect of inflation on the real value of individual benefits.
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Consequently, the out-of-pocket expenses borne by
beneficiaries increased during the year when accessing
benefits at pharmacies.
JADEP claims activity grew marginally by 1.2% over the
performance of the previous years, despite a decline of
4.2% in the number of claimants accessing benefits. The
number of approved claims for the 2016-2017 year was
327,857, and the corresponding expenditure totaled
$127.78M. In terms of utilisation, 44,786 beneficiaries
could access JADEP benefits at over 260 participating
providers islandwide.

Individual Beneﬁts Initiatives
Drug Subsidies Increase

To address the rising out-of-pocket expenses borne by
beneficiaries, there was a 100% increase in drug
subsidies for beneficiaries under 19 years of age, made
effective September 2016, which led to a significant
reduction in the co-payments required when filling
prescriptions for children.

With the revised subsidy benefits, an average of 67% of
the pharmaceutical cost is covered by NHF instead of
45%, which was prior to the revision.
A comprehensive review was conducted for all the drug
subsidies and based on the budgetary allocation,
subsidies were increased for approximately 30% of the
pharmaceuticals covered on the programme.

Drug List Expansion
There was an expansion of the NHFCard drug list to
include six new APIs and nine associated presentations.
Beneficiaries enrolled for the medical conditions
arthritis, hypertension, major depression, and diabetes
mellitus now have access to an expanded number of
pharmaceuticals options used in the treatment of these
conditions.
Additionally, 73 new presentations relating to existing
active pharmaceutical ingredients on the programme
were added to the list of benefits. Overall a total of 250
active pharmaceutical ingredients (APIs) are now
covered on the NHFCard Programme with over 1,500
presentations.
For the Glucometer Programme, two new brands were
added making a total of nine glucometers that are
provided free of cost to diabetics enrolled on the NHF
programme through a partnership with eight
distributors.

100% increase in drug subsidies
for U-19 beneficiaries to alleviate
out-of-pocket expenses.

Average of 67% of pharmaceutical
cost covered by NHF for children.

Expansion of the NHFCard drug list
to include 6 new active pharmaceutical
ingredients (APIs) and 9 associated
presentations.

250 active pharmaceutical
ingredients (APIs) and over 1,500
presentations covered on the NHF
Programme.

2 new brands added to Glucometer
Programme, totaling nine glucometers
provided free of cost to enrolled
diabetics.

Customer Care Activities
The extension of the Same Day Service to all Help Desk
outstations islandwide, where customers can have their
applications processed then obtain NHF cards within 15
minutes, was implemented as a new initiative aimed at
improving beneficiaries' access to services and benefits.
Currently, there are six locations providing this service,
including the two new NHF Help Desks at Union Square
and the May Pen Drug Serv, and customers are urged to
access those at locations that are nearby their
workplaces or residences. For the period, a total of
18,061 cards were generated through the 15-minute
system. The numerous Drug Serv Pharmacy locations
were strategically utilised to distribute cards to
beneficiaries, who had mailed in their application.
The volume of customer interactions grew by 11%
during the year compared with the previous period.
Customer care representatives interacted with 67,005
walk-in customers and handled 19,993 telephone calls at
the six locations, which are the Dominica Drive head
office, Union Square Drug Serv, Mandeville Regional
Hospital, St. Ann's Bay Hospital, Cornwall Regional
Hospital and May Pen Drug Serv.
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Same Day Service extended to all
help desk outstations islandwide.
New help desk location
established at the Union Square
& May Pen Drug Serv Pharmacy.
Customer interactions grew by
11%.
All Drug Serv Pharmacies are now
points for card distribution.

Provider Network
Twenty-nine new pharmacies were granted provider status
as part of the NHF programme, while 14 pharmacies were
terminated due to the closure of their operations. The
participating provider network is comprised of 449 NHF
providers located islandwide, 89% of which were private
pharmacies. JADEP beneficiaries were able to access
benefits at 264 pharmacies. This offers beneficiaries greater
convenience, ease of access, and the ability to compare
prices to minimise out-of-pocket expenses.
Also, in response to the concern about compensation raised
among JADEP providers, the NHF introduced a fee of $300
per prescription payable to providers in addition to the
existing fees paid by the beneficiaries.
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449 NHF providers located
island-wide and 264 pharmacies
catering to JADEP beneficiaries
29 new pharmacies were granted
provider status as part of the NHF
programme.

Funding Healthcare
Infrastructure
Granting Beneﬁts to Healthcare
Institutions

The National Health Fund (NHF), as part of its mandate,
offers funding through grants for the improvement and
development of healthcare systems thereby contributing
to the overall promotion and provision of adequate
healthcare for all Jamaicans.
During the 2016-2017 financial year, $1.95B was
approved for 42 Institutional Benefits projects. A total of
$508M was approved for 31 new projects, while
additional funding at the sum of $1.44B was approved
for eleven existing projects.

Government organisations commanded the largest
share with a total of 21 projects approved valuing
$1.81B. Ten (10) projects were approved for the Ministry
of Health valuing $1.40B and another ten were also
approved for the South East Regional Health Authority
valuing $377M. One project was approved for the North
East Regional Health Authority valuing $44M.
Non-government organizations (NGO) combined with
Other Government Agencies had 21 projects approved
valuing $132M.

Approval by Grantee (Millions)
72% ($1.4B)

7% ($132M)

19% ($377M)
Ministry of Health
South East Regional
Authority

2% ($44M)

North East Regional
Authority
Non-Government Organisations
& Other Government Agencies
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Regarding approval of projects by type, the largest share of funding approved went to the Medical & Health Service
Equipment category, which received a total of $1.17B for six projects. The Infrastructure category, which includes new
construction and renovation projects, received $348M for nine projects. Health Promotion and Protection followed
with $211M for seven projects; the category ‘Other’ including Transportation and Research, accounted for $203M for
six projects and Training accounted for $17M for 14 projects.

Approval by Type (Millions)
60% ($1.17B)

10% ($202M)

1% ($17M)

11% ($211M)
Health Promotion
& Protection

18% ($348M)

Training
Infrastructure
Medical & Other Health
Service Equipment
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Projects Managed by NHF

During the 2016-2017 financial year, several major
infrastructure projects to support public health
programmes were managed directly by the NHF.

Ministry of Health Special
Project (LINAC Centres)

The Government of Jamaica, in its continued thrust to
improve healthcare services in Jamaica, had initiated the
construction of two cancer treatment centres in the
island. The NHF, in collaboration with Culture, Health,
Arts, Sports and Education Fund and Tourism
Enhancement (CHASE) Fund and other donors, have
provided the necessary funding for this venture. The two
locations are Cornwall Regional Hospital and the St.
Joseph’s Hospital. This Project is managed by the NHF.

Entrance to Cornwall Regional Hospital (CRH)
Cancer Treatment Centre

Cornwall Regional Hospital Cancer
Centre
Construction of the Cornwall Regional Hospital Centre
was completed in September 2016 despite major
challenges, including issues with the labour force and
scheduling issues around hospital operations.
Through strong partnership with the Jamaica Public
Service and other major stakeholders, the supply of
clean power to the facility was facilitated. Other
partnerships forged were with the Ministry of Industry
Commerce Agriculture and Fisheries and The
International Atomic Energy Agency to facilitate policy
directions and expert advice in the installation and
commissioning exercise for the project.

CT Scan machine inside CRH
Cancer Treatment Centre

The overall project was approximately 85% complete at
March 31, 2017, and it is anticipated that the first patient
will be treated within the first half of the upcoming
financial year .

St. Joseph’s Hospital Cancer
Centre

LINAC machine inside CRH
Cancer Treatment Centre

The construction of the St. Joseph’s Hospital cancer
centre was 82% complete at March 31, 2017. The
expected outcome of these projects is to have two fully
equipped cancer centres in the island so that the public
can have greater access to cancer care.
A consultant was engaged to draft a sustainability plan
for the centre so that these new facilities remain viable in
the long term.

External view of St. Joseph’s Hospital
Cancer Treatment Centre
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Refurbishment and Renovation
of Drug Serv Pharmacies

The NHF continued to refurbish strategically located
Drug Servs and several government-owned pharmacies
in anticipation of the full takeover of government-owned
pharmacies.
The major project for the financial year was the
renovation of the Greater Portmore Pharmacy, which
stemmed from a dire need to improve its space and
appearance as the facility’s functions had outgrown the
infrastructure.
This
construction
project
was
implemented by NHF’s Projects department at a cost of
$42M. The amenities include a sick bay, lunch room,
bathrooms, manager's office, confidential rooms, and
air-conditioned waiting areas.
Other large-scale and small-scale renovation works were
completed at a few health facilities to substantially
improve their overall layout and aesthetics while creating
a safe and comfortable environment for staff and
patients.
After
identifying
infrastructural
and
refurbishment needs, works were done at the Kitson
Town Health Pharmacy, Kingston Public Hospital,
Bustamante Children’s Hospital and Cornwall Regional
Hospital pharmacies with repairs totaling approximately
$6.5M. The repairs were in the form of drywall finishes,
painting, tiling, electrical work and the installation of
shelves and countertops.

Waiting area in old Greater Portmore
Drug Serv Pharmacy

Waiting area at the new Greater
Portmore Pharmacy

Design Works for Future
Implementation

A new design for the Santa Cruz Drug Serv was
conceptualised and included additional dispensing
windows, an area for staff, a manager’s office and larger
storage areas. Redesigns for the Port Maria Hospital
Pharmacy, Bustamante Children’s Hospital and the Glen
Vincent Drug Serv were also proposed, with the latter
including a new waiting area for clients. The design and
costing for these projects were completed for tendering.

Artist impression of the Bustamante Hospital
Drug Serv Pharmacy

The design proposal for the refurbishing of the
NHF’s
Procurement
and
Import
departments
commenced to facilitate the merger of the two
departments.

Community Work Days
Two work days were completed in the South East
Regional Health Authority. Painting and beautification
works were carried out at the St. Joseph’s Hospital
Community Work Day, while beautification works were
carried out at the Kingston Public Hospital Community
Work Day.
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Community work day at the
St. Joseph’s Hospital

Health Promotion
and the NHF
The threat of non-communicable diseases (NCDs) is both
a global and national burden that poses major public
health challenges which directly affect a country’s social
and economic development. The World Health
Organization recommends that NCDs be given priority
consideration and that member states develop a
national policy framework for the prevention and
mitigation of major NCDs and their risk factors. A
successful policy framework must include health
promotion, which is the process of enabling people to
increase control over and improve their health.

Screening Tests

An effective, proactive and preventative measure that
can be taken to combat the rise in NCDs is health
screening. During the 2016-2017 fiscal year, the National

Health Fund (NHF) conducted a total of 100,063
screening tests across the island at 254 events. The
provision of screening tests benefited individuals at 83
community health days, 19 school wellness activities,
and 152 health fairs. The NHF’s Mobile Screening Unit
was also utilised at 31 events during the year.
The majority of tests (approximately 57%) were done at
community health days where a total of 57,431 tests
were completed for individuals who were screened.
Health fairs were responsible for 31% and school
screenings contributed at 12%.
Subsequent to all screening activities, over 5,800 SMS
messages were sent to persons with abnormal screening
results encouraging them to seek medical care at their
doctor or nearest health centre.

NHF SCREENING PROGRAMME
100,063 screening tests
across the island at 254
events.

57,431 screening tests
successfully completed at
community health days.

Over 5,800 SMS
messages with
results sent
encouraging
persons to seek
medical care.

NHF’s Mobile
Screening Unit
utilised at 31 events
during the year.

83 community health days
19 school wellness activities
152 health fairs

(57% screened)
(31% screened)

(12% screened)

School Wellness

The NHF school wellness programme continued in the
2016-2017 financial year in collaboration with the
Ministry of Health (MOH) and the Ministry of Education,
Youth and Information (MoEY&I). During the year,
support was given to the Sustainable School Feeding
Pilot Project in Manchester, which is aimed at improving
the nutritional value of school meals by increasing the
consumption of locally available foods. The project
essentially monitored the health and nutritional status of
children.
In addition, sponsorship was provided to six schools to
assist the Healthy Lifestyle Clubs, which was recently
rebranded by the MOH as Healthy Youth Positive Energy
– HYPE clubs. Sponsorship was also provided to the
MoEY&I to support the revision of the Appropriate
Eating and Fitness curriculum. Healthy Eating and
Fitness is one of four thematic areas in the Health and
Family Life Education Curriculum for primary and
secondary schools.

Workplace Wellness

It was also necessary for health and wellness to be
promoted within the workplace to educate and influence
adults about lifestyle changes that can directly impact
health. The NHF’s Work-It-Out Challenge was again
implemented in 2016 to encourage and foster positive
behaviour change in the lives of everyday working men
and women. Its main goal was to increase physical
activity and encourage the adoption of healthy eating
practices.
A survey conducted among 57 participants who had
completed the Work-It-Out-Challenge, as well as those
who had not, revealed that the competition had a
positive impact on the competitors, their families and
workplaces.
Several respondents noted that changes were made at
their place of work as a result of the competition. Some
of changes that respondents (42%) reported included

the introduction of an exercise programme, the hiring of
a fitness trainer, creation of an exercise area, in-office
weight loss challenges, increased participation in 5k
walks/runs, and the construction of a gym. 98% of the
respondents noted that they would recommend the
competition.

2016
235 individuals from 47 organisations
entered the competition.
The competition comprised exercise
sessions, boot camps, dance exercises,
nutrition workshops, and weigh-ins.
Collectively, participants lost 1,106lbs
during the competition.
Participants reported improvements in
overall health.

Survey to Determine Impact
of Work-It-Out Challenge
56% of participants reported
that they were still involved in
some physical activity.
Post-competition results also
included: 30% of persons
were drinking more water,
22% were eating more
vegetables, 21% were
eating less sugar
49% made changes in their
family meals by incorporating:
more fruits and vegetables,
less juice, more water, smaller
portion sizes, and less use of
salt and sugar.

Male & Female 2016 Work-It-Out Challenge Winners
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5 Star Health For Men

The 5 Star Health For Men progamme, which began in
2015, encourages the important five steps that men
must take to achieve better health. These steps are
healthy eating, daily exercise, regular health checks,
taking prescribed medication, and getting substantial
rest. For this year, a total of 3,943 men were enrolled in
the programme.
Registration for programme participation was offered at
all NHF events and at all Drug Serv pharmacy locations.
Men were also targeted at male-centric events, including
the Jamaica Drag Racing Circuit in May 2016 and
screening events held for police officers.

Re-Imagine Food

Re-Imaging Food Promotion: Advantage
Communication, The Towers, New Kingston

Diet is a key component in reducing non-communicable
diseases. The NHF’s Re-Imagine Food programme
focused on healthy eating and healthy living in Jamaica,
continues to educate Jamaicans as it rallies around the
slogan ‘Healthy Eating On a Budget’.
The team participated in numerous activities such as a
$250 Cooking Challenge aired on CVM TV, the
development of a series of healthy eating videos in
collaboration with the Nutrition Unit of the Ministry of
Health, and executing booths promoting healthy eating
at the Jamaica Independence Village, the Jamaica
Cultural Development Commission National Festival of
the Arts finals, and several other occasions. Banners and
brochures were also created as marketing collateral for
use at the events.

Meaningful Partnerships
Health

promotion

committees

were

Re-Imaging Food Promotion: Independence Village
Ranny Williams Entertainment Centre

formed

between the NHF, the Jamaica Constabulary Force
(JCF), the Jamaica Teachers Association (JTA) and the
Jamaica Fire Brigade (JFB) for driving the Memoranda of
Understanding MOU for Health Promotion for each
agency.
To date, the most successful of the MoUs has been with
the JCF. The launch of the JCF-NHF MoU took place on
June 23, 2016, and was twinned with the official opening
of the renovated physiotherapy building at the National
Police Academy in Twickenham Park, St. Catherine. The
building had received a $5M grant under the NHF
Institutional Benefits Programme.

Jamaica Constabulary Force official opening
of physiotherapy building

After the launch, screenings at several JCF locations and the implementation of a Knowledge Attitude Practice (KAP)
survey were among the activities completed during the year under the MOU with funding support from the NHF. The
results of the survey formed the baseline data used to develop a health promotion programme for the Force by the
NHF-JCF Health Promotion Committee. This included a revision of the curriculum for recruits to include training in
nutrition and the developement of brochures in collaboration with the JCF nutrionist. A ‘Force-It-Out’ weight-loss
and healthy-lifestyle competition was also conceptualised.
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Under the JTA MoU, screenings and a KAP survey were
undertaken, followed by the development of a health
promotion programme. Implementation of the
programme should get underway in the upcoming
2017-2018 financial year. The MoU for the JFB
experienced some delays, however, funding was
provided for purchase of screening supplies. The
screening and KAP survey are expected to begin early in
the new financial year.
In addition, a new MoU with the Jamaica Association of
Education Officers was signed for health promotions.

Sponsorships

Partnerships were developed with several stakeholders
through the sponsorship of events.
The NHF Sponsorship Evaluation
Committee reviewed 214 requests
of which 125 received sponsorship,
including the Medical Association
of Jamaica’s Annual Symposium
and the Pharmaceutical Society of
Jamaica’s Annual Conference.

The NHF strives to educate the Jamaican population on
the dangers of NCDs and how they can be prevented or
controlled.
During the 2016-2017 financial year, four brochures were
developed and one revised for the conditions covered
by the Jamaica Drug for the Elderly and NHFCard
programmes.
The NHF digital signage system played a significant role
in communicating vital information on healthy living, the
beneficiary programmes and NHF-related activities to
clients waiting for service. The number of sites where the
system is available was also increased from 13 to 23
during the year and is now being operated internally by
the HPPR and Information and Communication
Technology departments. This was implemented to
facilitate cost-efficient operation and faster response in
publicising new information.
It should be noted that face-to-face presentations are
most effective in communicating information. A total of
61 presentations were completed islandwide at
workplaces,
conferences
and
seminars
giving
information on the benefits provided by the NHF and
new initiatives for customers.

Sponsorships also included other health related
initiatives, such as, Cancer Awareness Month activities
and the Child & Adolescent Mental Health Project.
Jamaica’s
participation
at
important
overseas
conferences was also supported.

Improving Health Literacy

Health literacy is essential to empower individuals to act
in respect to health.

The Drug Serv division hosted education sessions for
customers at a number of dispensing pharmacies
islandwide. Sixteen pharmacies conducted 368 sessions
resulting in an increase of 55.3% over the last fiscal year.
A cumulative total of 7,141 customers and 371 staff
members benefited from these sessions where topics
presented on included chronic diseases such as
diabetes, hypertension, and cancer.

Observing The Health Calendar

The observance of special health days and months,
provide the opportunity to promote specific health
messages to the public. The following activities were
carried out in commemoration of the selected health
days. For Breast Cancer Awareness Month in October,
1,000 pink ribbons were produced and distributed to all
Drug Serv pharmacy locations. Breast cancer awareness
presentations were also made at Community Health
Days and the creation of a ‘selfie’ board was utilised to
promote breast self-examination on social media.
For World Diabetes Day on November 14, the NHF
sponsored TVJ’s The Susan Show to produce and air
features on diabetes, including interviews with an
ophthalmologist, diabetic patients and NHF Chief
Executive Officer. Health videos on ‘Diabetes and The
Eye’ were also produced and placed on the digital
signage system.
Other health-related calendar events, including Prostate
Cancer Awareness Month, Salt Awareness Week and
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Heart Awareness Month, were supported through the
sponsorship of outside broadcasts and screenings at
various events.

Publicity & Advertising
Publicity and advertising activities undertaken during the
2016-2017 financial year.

Activity

Numbers

SMS

50,868

Print Advertisements

120

Editorials

52

Supplements

19

TV Interviews

6

Radio Interviews

32

Video Recordings

29

Website Visits

59,065

Promotional materials were also developed for
distribution. These included flyers, brochures and a
booklet listing the medications available for prescribers
in the public health sector in related parishes. In
addition, on-the-ground promotions included promotion
agents who provided information to patients visiting
clinics at health centres and hospitals.
The electronic media was heavily utilised and the NHF
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer were interviewed
by Jamaica Information Service’s Think Tank sessions
which promoted the benefits for clients targeting
children with NHF cards. In addition, several radio and
television interviews and features were conducted to
promote and spread the work of the NHF.

Website and Social Media

Social media provides a real-time, electronic, and mobile
medium that the NHF can utilise to instantly
communicate and share activities done by the
organisation. The social media platforms continue to be
used to publicise various activities and events.

Numerous advertising and publicity activities were
implemented as part of the ongoing push to promote
the various activities carried out during the year. Public
relations activities were carried out, including the official
launch of the renovated physiotherapy building at
National Police Academy in Twickenham Park, St.
Catherine, the opening of the new Kitson Town Drug
Serv Pharmacy and the Kitson Town Health Centre in St.
Catherine in November 2016.
Other major public relations activities supported the
official openings for the Public Private Partnership
Pharmacy Partner Pilot Programme (PPPP) as well as the
official launch at the Health First Pharmacy in May Pen,
Clarendon, and Everybody’s Pharmacy in Kingston.

Mr. Gregory Mair, Chairman, NHF addressing the
launch of the PPPP at Everybody’s Pharmacy
in Kingston.
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There were over 59,000 visits to the NHF website during
the 2016-2017 financial year. The NHF Facebook page
saw an approximate 100% increase in engagement rates
and the growth of fans. The reach of posts to Facebook
users also doubled for the same period last year. Similar
statistics were seen for the NHF Twitter and Instagram
pages.

Expanding Access to
Medication for Public Patients
During the year, the National Health Fund (NHF) made substantial strides in increasing access to vital medicines for
public sector patients and thereby sustained the affordability of essential drugs.

Pharmacy Public Private Partnership

A major achievement for the year was the implementation of the Public Private Sector Pharmacy Partnership. Since
the launch of the programme, a total of seventeen (17) participating pharmacies are currently onboard in May Pen (5
pharmacies), Cross Roads (7 pharmacies) and Montego Bay (5 pharmacies).
The partnership is defined by the NHF entering into a
contractual agreement with selected private pharmacies
in these parishes to dispense NHF-owned drugs to
public patients using the Pharmacy Information
Management System. The pharmacy, in turn, receives a
service fee of $600 per script (NHF - $400 and patient $200).
The programme has been well received by patients who
indicated via a feedback survey that they are satisfied
with the service.

Prescriptions
Processed Per Area
Up to March 31, 2017

.

Montego Bay
May Pen
Kingston

Take-Over of Public Sector Pharmacies

The operations of public pharmacy services across St. James was successfully transferred to the management of the
NHF. The operation involved offering pharmacy services from eight locations in the parish and service ranged from
five to seven days a week, while others were on a scheduled basis. A space at the Mount Salem Health Centre was
refurbished to accommodate a new Drug Serv pharmacy. The Kitson Town Health Centre pharmacy in St. Catherine
was refurbished and opened as a Drug Serv pharmacy, and major renovations were done to the pharmacy store room
at Bustamante Hospital for Children in Kingston.

Personal Pharmacy Care Contract

The organisation also rebranded its initiatives for offering services. The Personal Pharmacy Care Contract introduced
customers to the various options for accessing medical dispensary services, including scheduled refills, prescription
submissions via instant-messaging smartphone app WhatsApp, a Drop Off-Pick Up Service, and special service to
persons with certain chronic illnesses.
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Drop Off-Pick Up Service
(DOPUS)

DOPUS

Drop Off-Pick Up Service

The number of prescriptions processed using the Drop
Off-Pick Up service offered at all locations was 116,179.
This represents 11.37% of the total outpatients who
were offered the service.

Approx.11.37%
(116,179 ) Outpatients
utilising Pharmacy Services.

Scheduled Refill Prescriptions
October 2016-March 2017

PHARMACY

SRP Sysytem

Mandeville

532

May Pen

178

Black River

A new scheduled refill prescription system commenced
operation at 11 dispensary locations. This was in keeping
with the Drug Serv division’s mandate to implement a
mechanism for refilling repeat prescriptions prior to the
arrival of selected customers at a minimum of eight
locations. A total of 5,534 patients benefitted from this
initiative.
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Princess Margaret

232

Union Square

472

Diabetes Centre

268

Savanna-La-Mar

1,156

Glen Vincent

344

Greater Portmore

415

Santa Cruz

200

Bustamante

28

Port Maria

340

Percy Junor

197

Victoria Jubilee

214

Kingston Public

677

Cornwall Regional

264

TOTAL

Scheduled Reﬁll Prescriptions
(SRP)

# of Prescriptions
filled via

Hon. Dr. Christopher Tufton, Minister of Health discusses the
Pharmacy and Information Management System (PIMS) with
Carlene Wilson, Pharmacist at Kitson Town Health Centre Drug
Serv Pharmacy on occasion of the official opening of the
pharmacy. PIMS is the electronic solution for the management
and control of NHF’s pharmaceutical inventory from the point
of purchase to the point of dispensing in Drug Serv Pharmacies

5,534
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Performance

The Drug Serv division achieved sales of $3,819,211,903 compared to $2,268,621,204.21 in the previous year,
representing an increase of 76% in performance.
In the reporting year, 1,278,119 scripts were processed. This is 332,170 more than the 945,949 prescriptions filled
during the previous financial year. Drug Serv Pharmacies in Mandeville, Union Square, Kingston Public Hospital and
Cornwall Regional Hospital processed the largest number of scripts at over 100,000 each. Cumulatively, these
high-performing pharmacies filled 548,929 scripts, amounting to 43% of the total amount filled by the NHF’s Drug
Serv Division.

Prescriptions 2015-2016

PHARMACY

Prescriptions 2016-2017

Scripts Commenced
Processed
Reporting

PHARMACY

Scripts Commenced
Processed
Reporting

Mandeville

94,609

Mandeville

May Pen

88,500

May Pen

98,393

Black River

51,581

Black River

54,129

Princess Margaret

56,628

Princess Margaret

47,346

Union Square

Union Square

164,430

105,177

134,900

Diabetes Centre

78,780

Diabetes Centre

71,456

Savanna-La-Mar

49,618

Savanna-La-Mar

52,609

Glen Vincent

71,969

Glen Vincent

55,460

Greater Portmore

59,540

Greater Portmore

67,177

Santa Cruz

43,492

Santa Cruz

42,065

Sub Total

Sub Total

759,156

728,712

Bustamante

82,133

Bustamante

87,317

Port Maria

36,616

Port Maria

38,224

Percy Junor

52,626

Percy Junor

52,360

Victoria Jubilee

5,647

January 2016

Victoria Jubilee

59,663

Kingston Public

9,771

February 2016

Kingston Public

149,430

Cornwall Regional

159,422

TOTAL

945,949

Kitson Town H/C
Sub Total 2
TOTAL
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2,991
549,407
1,278,119

January 2017

Customer Wait Time and
Service Level Report

The division achieved an average service level of
85% for Vital Essential and Necessary (VEN) items,
thereby exceeding the target of 75%.

85%

The targeted customer wait time for the

division was two hours or less. For March 2017, the
average wait time attained was one hour and 57
minutes. While some pharmacies were able to
consistently dispense prescriptions to customers
during their visit, others had to dispatch
prescriptions from the system at a later time in
instances when system issues were being
corrected. This would result in the wait time report
reflecting a higher duration time than was actually
experienced by patients. Other impacting factors
included shortage of replacement staff, and a high
average number of patients at the start of the day
only.

service Level
achieved for
VEN items

Clinical Interventions

Throughout the reporting year, all pharmacies conducted clinical interventions with regard to identifying potential and
existing drug-related problems, resolving existing drug-related problems, preventing potential drug-related
problems, and improving the quality use of medicines.
There was a 21.8% increase in reports of drug-related problems in the 2016-2017 financial year with the number of
reports totalling 5,276. There were 5,088 recommendations formulated for improving patient outcomes and
enhancing their quality of life. The major categories of drug-related problems reported during the year were:
Over/Under Dose problems at 39.61%, drug selection problems at 35.97%, and toxicity accounted for 0.42%.
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Drug Selection
Over/Under Dose
Compliance
Undertreated
Monitoring
Queries
Not Classified
Toxicity/Adverse Drug
Reactions

1,898

120

235
22

606

206

23

2,090

Ward Checks

An average of eight hospital pharmacies conducted ward checks during the period April 2016 to March
2017 and an average of 29 wards were visited. Drugs were generally found to be stored according to the
specified conditions except for four locations that reported incorrect storage temperatures.
Results also informed that 3,396 pharmaceutical items were cited as expired, 287 items found to be
damaged, and 12,707 items were identified as medication excesses.

Chronic Illnesses

Cardiovascular diseases were the leading condition for which prescriptions were processed, accounting for
a total of 64% of the chronic conditions. Endocrine and respiratory illness accounted for 19% and 12%,
respectively. The other conditions were malignancy (3%) and HIV (2%).

Details of Chronic Illnesses
Pharmacies (10)

Respiratory

Cardiac

Endocrine

Malignancy HIV

Total

117,820

627,868

187,304

24,013

18,572

Cardiac 64%

Respiratory 12%

Endocrine 19%
HIV 2%

Cancer 3%

Spoilage

Spoilage for the reporting period amounted to $2,903,333 which represents 0.06% of inventory.
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Providing Pharmaceutical
Services and Medical Sundries
The National Health Fund’s (NHF) Pharmaceutical
Division worked towards achieving the targets
developed to meet strategic objectives that will improve
the infrastructure of facilities, organisational capacity,
service standards and, ultimately, customer satisfaction.

The Re-Engineering of the
Pharmaceutical Warehouse

The NHF commenced the re-engineering of the
pharmaceutical warehouse following a review of the
Pharmaceutical division’s supply chain processes. This
review included collaboration with representatives from
the Ministry of Health (MOH) as well as a mission from
international public health agencies Pan American
Health Organization (PAHO) and World Health
Organization (WHO). The renovation of the warehouse
aims to facilitate more efficient use of space to better

accommodate the increased inventory volumes being
requested by health facilities.
The old NHF warehouse was built over 40 years ago and
was in critical need of upgrading. Surrey Paving and
Aggregates Company Limited were contracted to
upgrade the facility at a cost of $63M and the
refurbishing exercise commenced on April 4, 2016, with
a large portion of the inventory being transferred to a
temporary warehouse at the Garmex Freezone located
near the Pharmaceutical Division.
The project was managed by the NHF’s Projects
Department and construction activities were completed
during the year. The critical upgrades comprised
installation of lighting and cabling, as well as restocking.
The facility was transformed to have improved storage
capacity, and aesthetics of the building. Operations
resumed at the newly re-engineered warehouse facility
in February 2017.

Quality Management System

Another significant project undertaken during the fiscal
year was the transition of the processes of the
Pharmaceutical Division to meet the requirements of
IS09001:2015 quality standards. Throughout the year,
employees within the division worked assiduously to
revise procedures and work instructions.
In March 2017, the Pharmaceutical Division’s
conformance to ISO9001:2015 standards were assessed
by external ISO auditors from the National Certification
Body of Jamaica and the result was the division
achieving Certification of Conformity to the Pharmacy
Code and ISO9001:2015 standards. The outcome of the
transition to the ISO9001:2015 standard has resulted in
more efficient operations with greater emphasis on
quality and risk-based thinking.

Warehouse - Inside view

Enhancing Customer Satisfaction

To improve NHF's communication with customers, 276
individualised customer contacts were made via visits,
telephone calls and emails. This number exceeded the
target of 240 customer contacts for the year by 15%.
Additionally, three newsletters were distributed to all
customers during the year. The publication was
developed to provide customers with general
warehouse news and updates in a scheduled and
consistent manner.

Warehouse - External View of Building
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Managing the Pharmaceuticals
Supplier Base

To ensure the availability of supplies, the NHF worked to
maintain adequate stocks of Vital Essential and
Necessary (VEN) list items according to the budgetary
allocation.
The mergers of the Procurement department and the
Imports department of the Pharmaceutical divisions
resulted in an increase in the number of shipments.
There was an increase from 174 shipments being cleared
in the first half of the year, to 380 shipments by the end
of the year. The average cost of clearance per shipment
was also reduced by 27.8% over the latter period and
the average clearance time was reduced by 34.88%.

174 shipments cleared
in the April to August 2016
380 shipments cleared
in the September 2016
to March 2017

The Procurement department faced numerous
challenges that included supplier-related issues such as
sourcing and qualifying suppliers with limited time, risk
mitigation, obtaining accurate data, reducing costs and
achieving savings, and managing stakeholders.
Strategies were identified and implemented to mitigate
these issues despite challenges such as supplier delays,
the discontinuation of products, and global product
shortages from time to time. During the year, the NHF
supplier base was widened through the expanded
sharing of awards for pharmaceutical items, which
ensured that its Pharmaceutical Division would be able
to deliver an uninterrupted supply of vital drugs to the
public sector.
In widening the supplier base, the NHF also opted to
utilise the resources of the Pan American Health
Organization. The international public health agency,
which provides technical cooperation and mobilises
partnerships to improve health in the Americas, gave
assistance in sourcing critical, rare, and hard-to-obtain
drugs.
The Government of Jamaica’s electronic public
procurement system, which facilitates the full life cycle of
tendering processes for both buyers and suppliers for
procurements of any nature, was also more actively used
in sourcing items locally and internationally.

Service Level

Clearance fee reduced by 27.8%
& average clearance time reduced
by 34.88%
In total, 150 contracts were managed for the supply of
over 750 pharmaceuticals and medical supplies valued at
approximately $4.7B.

The service level of the Pharmaceutical Division is
assessed based on two categories – that of critical items
and chronic diseases, including hypertension, diabetes,
asthma, mental illness and cardiac disease. The average
service level for critical items and drugs to treat chronic
illnesses were 80% and 82% respectively.

Service Level Percentile - Drugs for Critical Illnesses FY 2016/2017
Critical Items

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Average

Anti-Infectives

82%

79%

79%

81%

80%

Anti-Cancer

83%

93%

86%

88%

88%

I.V. Fluids

92%

92%

95%

78%

89%

General Pharmaceuticals

79%

88%

79%

82%

82%

Medical Sundries

77%

79%

77%

85%

80%

X-Ray Chemicals

69%

65%

95%

93%

80%

X-Ray Films

62%

64%

69%

62%

65%

Average

78%

77%

83%

81%

80%

26

Service Level Percentile - Drugs for Chronic Illnesses FY 2016/2017
Chronic Diseases

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Average

Anti-Diabetic Agents

85%

88%

89%

81%

82%

Anti-Asthmatic Agents

82%

78%

80%

83%

88%

Cardiac Drugs

83%

75%

83%

85%

91%

Anti-Psychotics Agents

76%

72%

74%

80%

78%

Anti-Hypertensive Drugs

83%

78%

85%

86%

82%

Average

82%

78%

82%

83%

84%

Order Preparation

The number of orders processed totalled 14,106. Of this,
56% were standard scheduled orders, 17% were
emergency orders, and 10% were back orders. The
increasing number of emergency orders is an area of
concern as 2,401 emergency orders were processed
during the period. This represents a 53.6% increase over
the 1,113 emergency orders processed in the previous
financial year.

Total Orders Processed

Delivery Service

The monthly delivery schedule allots two deliveries per
month to each customer, except for Drug Serv
pharmacies located in Kingston where weekly deliveries
are made.
There were many challenges during the year that
negatively impacted adherence to the delivery schedule.
The main challenges were: logistical setbacks of
inventories due to the transitions of the NHF Warehouse
to the Garmex Freezone once the renovations were
completed; an increase in the number and volume of
orders placed by health institutions; increases in
emergency and back orders; late submission of orders by
health institutions.
These affected the outcome and the delivery target of
95% or more orders being delivered on their scheduled
delivery date was not met this year.

Inventory Sales

Pharmaceuticals and medical sundries generated annual
sales of $2.61B to third parties such as hospitals, health
centres and pharmacies not including Drug Serv. This
represents a decline when compared to sales of $2.95B
in 2015-16 and was due to the NHF taking over the
management of more public sector pharmacies during
the year.

Spoilage and Inventory Turnover

Monthly
Weekly
Other
HIV

The organisation’s target of ≤0.06% of average inventory
for spoilage was achieved with a result of 0.056% of
average inventory. The objective of maintaining an
inventory turnover rate of at least four times the average
inventory, however, was narrowly missed as the inventory
turnover rate was 3.82 times for the 2016-2017 financial
year.

Bi-Monthly
Backorder
Interim
Emergency
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Vaccine Programme

The NHF provides effective support for the Ministry of
Health’s Expanded Programme on Immunisation
through the warehousing and distribution of vaccines.
Currently, the organisation provides supply-chain
management for 18 types of vaccines under the
programme. As a result, a total of 1,308 requests for
vaccines were processed to supply public health facilities
with 865,266 doses of vaccines. This represents a
significant increase over the previous year when 401
orders were processed. On average, the turnaround
time for processing vaccine orders was under 30
minutes.

865,266 doses of
vaccines supplied
to public health
facilities

HIV/STI Programme

Support was given to the MOH’s HIV/STI programmes
wherein the NHF procures, stores and distributes
anti-retrovirals and laboratory reagents for sexually
transmitted infections. This is also done for infant
formula for babies whose mothers have been infected
with HIV. An important aspect of the agreement with the
MOH, is that the NHF, through its inventory
management and reporting systems, can provide timely
and useful reports required by MOH for submission to
the United States Agency for International Development
(USAID) and the Global Fund Project.

Disaster Preparedness Stock

Management of pharmaceuticals and medical sundries
for the Ministry of Health’s disaster preparedness
programme continued. These items are rotated with
NHF’s inventory to minimise expiry and obsolescence.

Donor Partnership Programme

...........
687 HIV
orders processed
approximately 66,700
were dispatched to hospitals
Representatives from the NHF were trained by Ministry
of Health and PAHO/ WHO representatives in the use of
the web-based Vaccination and Supplies Stock
Management (wVSSM) software. The wVSSM software is
an electronic logistics management information system
that allows both the Ministry of Health and NHF to
access real-time information on vaccine inventory
throughout the supply chain.
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Partnership with donors such as Food for the Poor, Issa
Trust Foundation and Global Fund Project, who source
pharmaceuticals and medical sundries for donation, help
to reduce the cost of supplying pharmaceuticals to
public facilities. These donor partners are now sourcing
items with longer shelf lives and the NHF is committed to
distributing the items received from donors before they
expire.

Service Built
On Technology
The 2016-2017 financial year saw the National Health Fund’s (NHF) Information and Communication Technology (ICT)
Division continuing to significantly improve and enhance the organisation’s technology platform via the completion of
several initiatives aimed especially at unifying communications and integrating necessary software.
Pivotal to these improvements is the annual review of the ICT Strategic Plan, which was conceptualised to set the path
for the continuous growth of technology within the organisation over a five-year period. This plan, now in its third year,
functions as the foundation for continued improvements in the organisation’s effectiveness and efficiency.

Warehouse
Management System
With
the
recent
completion
of
renovations to the Agency’s warehouse, a
New Warehouse Management System
(WMS) is being implemented. The WMS
manages the movements of goods in and
out of the warehouse, while tracking
receival, put-away, order fulfilment,
picking, packing and the ultimate
distribution to the customers.
The department has improved efficiency
and accuracy in these processes by
utilising the latest in handheld and
barcoding technologies to facilitate the
provision of orders and the management
of inventory.

Supporting Initiatives to
Reduce Beneﬁciary Wait
Time

Kemar Golding, Applications Support Technician, ICT Department

The ICT Division supported the new
explains barcode scanning, an integral part of the WMS, to Kerein
Reid, Inventory Officer at the NHF Pharmaceutical Warehouse
innovations to utilise more technology to
reduce wait time at Drug Serv
pharmacies. This included prescription
submissions via instant-messaging smartphone app WhatsApp Messenger, scheduled automatic prescription refills,
and barcode scanning at the point of prescription dispatching. Additionally, full rollout of a token system has been
completed so that the wait time for each patient can be tracked electronically for customer service improvement
purposes.
These innovations follow on the heels of last year’s implementation of a 15-minute turnaround for NHFCard printing as
part of the Same Day Service offered at the NHF Head Office. Since then, five help desks have been added to the list
of locations offering this fast card-printing capability.

Robust Software
In order to provide national healthcare benefits with maximum efficiency, quick access to information and a secure
document management within the organisation is critical and the ICT department further extended the use of processand case-management information platform OnBase to additional departments. The team has also implemented a
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centralised reporting server accessible by the entire
organisation, allowing it to be able to better manage and
access information and reports.
The ICT infrastructure continues to be improved with
greater focus on security and disaster recovery. Active
Directory, a directory service for domain networks, has
been fully implemented at all NHF locations, and all
end-user machines are configured with a centrally
managed endpoint protection system. In addition,
security system upgrades are being completed to
incorporate the latest in intrusion detection and
protection technologies. The disaster-recovery process
has also been improved to include application replication
and fail over.

Team Responsiveness
Cross training of the ICT department’s team continued to
further improve its responsiveness. This has resulted in
the agreed timelines for responsiveness and system
availability being met and exceeded. Over 1,000 help
desk requests issued during the period were closed
within the agreed timelines.
System uptime improved during the year and was over
99.85% across all systems. This means that for each
eight-hour day of operation, the NHF organisation has
less than one minute of downtime across all systems.

Closed within Timelines
ICT team responsiveness improved with over 1,000 help
desk requests issued and closed within agreed timelines.

Yes

System Availability
An improved system uptime standing at
over 99.85% across all systems.

Median

30

Mean

Linear(mean)

Dedicated
Staff
Stafﬁng

The foundation on which any well-run organisation is
built is, undoubtedly, good human resources. An
energised and engaged workforce ensures that the
organisation achieves its objectives. At the end of the
2016-2017 financial year, the staff compliment was at
415, which represents an 8% increase when compared to
380 at the end of the previous year. This year’s total
comprised 241 permanent staff and 174 temporary staff.
There were nine separations during the year.
The Procurement and Imports departments were
merged in order to improve the clearance
process and to enhance the monitoring of
contracts and the delivery of pharmaceuticals
and medical products.

Employee Training
and Developement

Staff received an
average 9.3 hours
of training

Training and Staff
Development

The target of an
average of 8 hours
of training per
annum was
exceeded.

Training and development of staff is crucial to
improve
professional
development
and
performance. Several training sessions were held
during the financial year and members of staff
received an average 9.3 hours of training. The
target of an average of eight hours of training
per annum was exceeded.
An automated Training Log was launched in
February 2017 in collaboration with the ICT
team. The log will assist with the notification and
reporting of training for employees and the submission
of the requisite training evaluation forms.
In the Pharmaceutical Division, a robust training and
development programme was carried out and included
ongoing internal and external training in customer
service, in-house inventory management training for
storemen, drivers and delivery attendants, and advanced
inventory management training by Management
Institute of Natural Development (MIND) for all
inventory officers, supervisors and managers within the
warehouse. The ICT Division conducted introductory
sensitisation sessions for the new Microsoft Great Plains
2016 business accounting software for 43 Warehouse
and Finance staff members.
In preparing for the transition of the re-certification to
the ISO9001:2015 Standard, half-day sensitisation
sessions were held. The ‘ISO9001:2015 Basics – What
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Employees Need to Know’ learning guide was acquired
and used to aid in the training. Eighty-eight employees
participated in the sessions and 69 were presented with
certificates.
A Customer Service Coaching Programme for clinicians
was launched at four Drug Serv pharmacies. The
objective was to provide the knowledge and skills
required for delivery of excellent customer service for
beneficiaries at the Mandeville, May Pen, Kingston
Public Hospital and Union Square Drug Serv pharmacies.
The training sessions covered the following areas: The
Key to Customer Satisfaction, Teamwork Development,
Handling Irate Customers, The Language of Positive
Communication/Caring
Communication,
Effective
Questioning & Listening, Exceeding Customer
Expectations, Value-Added Service, Effective Telephone
Techniques, The Art of Satisfying Customers, Service
Recovery, Empowerment, and Total Quality Service.

Medication Safety Sensitisation session was provided,
which saw the training of 287 persons, including
pharmacists, pharmacy technicians, pharmacy assistants
and pharmacy interns. In addition to the creation of a
brochure promoting medication safety, presentations
were made to staff at eight of 16 pharmacies.

Staff Rewards Programme

The Staff Rewards and Recognition Programme
recognises employees every quarter for outstanding
customer service based on the criteria of: Exemplary
Customer Service, Job Knowledge/Competence,
Deportment, Attitude to Company, and Punctuality. In
the second quarter, staff from the pharmacies were
added to the list of persons to be recognised. Several
employees were commended in recognition of their
Outstanding Customer Service and a total of 29 rewards
were issued throughout the year.
Exemplary staff members were also presented with the
CEO Award for outstanding leadership and dedication at
the Senior and Middle Manager’s Retreat.
The NHF established a new Wonderful Outstanding
Worker (WOW) Award initiative whereby division and
department heads notified the HR Department of any
outstanding customer service experiences witnessed
from their subordinates. Seven employees have been
acknowledged since the inception of this new initiative.

Keron Mais - 1st place winner for CEO Award

Mentorship Programme

The NHF Mentorship Programme was established to
facilitate the development of employees, improve
productivity, and increase employee retention while
facilitating succession planning efforts. The programme
was launched in January 2017 with mentees.

Temporary Employment
Programmes

The Summer Employment Programme successfully
placed approximately 196 students in efforts to provide
work experience for the benefit of Jamaican students in
training. The interns were placed at the Regional Health
Authorities, NHF departments and pharmacy locations,
the University Hospital West Indies, University of the
West Indies’ Epidemiology Research Unit, the Diabetes
Associations of Jamaica, St. Joseph’s Hospital, Princess
Margaret Hospital, Cornwall Regional Hospital,
Pharmacy Council of Jamaica, Bustamante Hospital, the
Ministry of Health and Kingston Public Hospital.
Internships were also extended to the Caribbean
Institute of Media and Communications’ Internship
Programme at the University of the West Indies. The
NHF’s Health Promotion & Public Relations Department
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Clive Harris - 2nd place for CEO Award

participated in the programme and was assigned two
university students.

Disaster Preparedness Planning

The Disaster Committee met to review the NHF disaster
preparedness plans, which included evacuation
procedures, fire safety training, personal safety tips, and
earthquake tips.

Pension Scheme

Member trustees for the National Health Fund Pension
Scheme were elected, and newly appointed members on
the NHF Pension Scheme were provided with orientation
on the scheme.

Employee Welfare

Through
the
Employee
Welfare
programme,
team-building activities were held to facilitate a
harmonious working relationship among team members.
The management team, in collaboration with the Staff
Welfare Committee, organised the Annual Staff Fun Day
at Aquasol Theme Park, Montego Bay, on Saturday June
25, 2016, and an End of Year Staff Party was also held on
December 10, 2016.
The Staff Welfare Committee also carried out a charity
outreach which saw the presentation of food donations
to the Jamaica National Children’s Home and the Lincoln
Early Childhood Education Centre.
As an extension of NHF’s commitment to employees’
and their families’ welfares, the children and wards of
employees who were successful in their GSAT
examinations were feted in a ceremony hosted at the
Police Officers’ Club. The successful students were
presented with certificates and tokens on behalf of the
NHF.

Administrative Activities

Improving Environmental Stewardship
As part of the environmental stewardship through
conservation and sustainable practices, energy-efficient
LED bulbs and water-savings devices were installed at
the Union Square Drug Serv, the Pharmaceutical
Warehouse, the Diabetes Centre Drug Serv, and Greater
Portmore Drug Serv.
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A strategy for the recycling of unused paper from
photocopiers/printers was also implemented in
December 2016. Sensitive documents were shredded
and sold to Recycle Jamaica for further processing,
along with boxes and other large paper items which
were compacted and baled.

Maintenance of Vehicle and Equipment
The maintenance of fleet and critical equipment which
was under the purview of the Human Resources and
Administration department was transferred to the
Projects department. The additional technical expertise
available in this unit will equate to greater efficiencies in
the management of fleet and equipment.
The equipment list includes generators, a cold room, a
chill room, air-conditioning units, forklifts and
refrigerators. An updated fleet management list was
developed and a proper servicing schedule is being
prepared for implementation in the upcoming financial
year.

Board of Survey
A Board of Survey Committee was established to tackle
the disposal of assets and expired pharmaceuticals. To
date, the disposal team has coordinated with the various
pharmacy locations to formulate a list of items to be
disposed.

BOARD OF
MANAGEMENT

Gregory Mair
Chairman

Paul Hanworth

Dr. David Lowe

Dr. Dana Morris Dixon
Deputy Chairman

Everton W. Anderson, JP
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer

Cecile Watson

Dr. Shane Alexis

Steven Sykes

Dr. Tonoya Toyloy
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Duke Holness

Sub-Committee
Membership
Finance and Projects Committee
Mr. Paul Hanworth – Chairman
Mr. Steven Sykes
Dr. Dana Morris Dixon

Audit & Governance Committee
Mrs. Cecile Watson - Chairperson
Mr. Duke Holness
Mr. Dameon McNally – co-opt member

Human Resource Committee
Mrs. Cecile Watson - Chairperson
Mr. Duke Holness
Mr. Dameon McNally – co-opt member

Medical Review & Research Committee
Dr. Shane Alexis - Chairman
Dr. Tonoya Toyloy
Mr. Duke Holness

National Health Insurance Plan Committee
Mr. Gregory Mair – Chairman
Dr. Shane Alexis
Mr. Errol McKenzie – Co-opt member
Ms. Britta Hay – Co-opt member
Mr. David Wan – Co-opt member
Mr. Jasper Barnett – Co-opt member
Mr. Ravi Rambarran – Co-opt member
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The Senior
Management Team
Senior Vice Presidents

Audrey Blair

Granville Gayle

Finance & Investments

Information & Communication
Technology

Vice Presidents

Anne Logan
Operations/Individual
Benefits

Judith Cheese-Morris
Human Resources &
Administration

Marcia Chin-See
Pharmaceutical Division
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Adelle Fraser
Drug Serv Division

Summary
of Financial
Performance

Summary of Financial
Performance March 2017
The National Health Fund (NHF) team was able to
maintain financial stability and achieve a creditable
financial performance for the year ended March 31, 2017
despite challenges arising from our mandate to assume
responsibility for the management and delivery of
pharmacy services within the public health sector and
being subjected to a inadequate drug budget.

Financial Position
The Statement of Financial Position as at March 31, 2017
reflects a net asset position of $14.00B, an improvement
of 2.44% ($333.17M) over the position at March 2016.
The financial position is reflecting a current ratio of
4.56:1, and an acid test ratio of 3.97:1. Whilst these
ratios exceeds acceptable standard the high level of
receivables remain a concern.
Trade Receivables from MOH at March 31, 2017 is
$2.26B which reflects a decrease of 27.91% ($875.13M)
over the balance as at March 2016. This is a direct result
of an impairment provision of $2B being made in the
current period in relation to the debt owed by MOH.
Other Receivables of $2.89B as at March 31, 2017 shows
a marginal decrease compared to prior year. The balance
is substantially comprised of Taxation Revenue
receivable which amounted to $1.61B at March 31, 2017
compared to $1.79B at March 2016.
Trade Accounts Payable of $771.89M represents
amounts owed to suppliers of pharmaceuticals and
medical sundries; this balance decreased by 43.87%
($603.28M) when compared to March 2016. The
decrease is as a result of steps being taken to pay down
Trade payables so that the balance fall within the credit
terms received from suppliers.
Institutional Benefits Payable of $1.58B at March 2017
reflects a decrease of $236.86M when compared to the
position March 2016. The reduction occurred because
payments during the period exceed grant approvals for
the period. Approvals for the financial year amounted to
$1.95B whilst payments totaled $2.17B.
The General Fund amounted to $4.37B which is a
decrease of 24.34% ($1.41B) compared to March 2016.
During the period $2.16B was transferred from General
Fund to finance Institutional Benefits projects.
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The Trust Fund Reserve stood at $8.7B at March 31,
2017 which is an increase of 13% ($1.02BM) when
compared to March 2016. The increase in this Reserve is
due to investment income of $400.13M, foreign
exchange gain of $255.68M and transfer from General
fund of $366.36M.

Income and Expenditure
The Surplus for the year ending March 31, 2017 is $1.12B
which is 54% ($1.31B) less than the prior year
performance.
Total Revenue net of expenses for the year reflected an
increase of 17% ($1.38B) when compared to March
2016. The increase is due to revenues from taxation
sources (Tobacco Tax National Insurance and Special
Consumption Tax) increasing over prior year by 14%
($906.85M) whilst net revenue from pharmacy services
improved over prior year by 32% ($460.79M).
On the other the hand, total expenses for the year
amounted to $8.5B which is an increase of $2.69B when
compared to prior year. The main factors contributing
the increase are as follows:
• There is a provision for impairment of receivables in
the current period of $2B while there was no such
provision in the prior year.
• Benefit Costs (NHF & JADEP Cards) of $4.445B
represents 52% of Total Expenditure and an increase
of 7% when compared to March 2016; this is due
solely to increased card utilization.
• Public Information expense accounts for 1.29% of
Total Expenditure.
• Staff Costs of $1.19B represents an increase of
24.08% ($231.39M) over the previous year. The
increase in this is mainly due to NHF taking over the
operation of KPH, VJH and CRH pharmacies.
• Administrative and other expenses for the current
year amounted to $754.97M resulting in an increase
of 34.65% ($194.27M) over prior year.
The full details of the financial operations are presented
on pages 44-84.

0

0
0

Total Revenue From Sale of
Pharmaceuticals

2011 - 12

2012 - 13

$1,049.74
$1,275.10
$953.61
$3,278.45

$1,329.37
$1,671.99
$1,044.82
$4,046.18

$1,061.61
$2,272.24
$1,112.06
$4,445.91

$1,250.78
$2,223.12
$1,440.67
$4,914.57

$940.96
$2,671.64
$1,198.51
$4,811.11

2013 - 14

0

0

0

0

0

0

$3,750.00

$1,286.00

$1,169.09
$3,274.14

$2,464.00

$2,105.05

$4,401.68

$1,652.53

$2,749.15

$4,647.77

$2,090.54

$2,557.23

$946.36
$2,984.92
$1,367.14
$5,298.42

2014 - 15

$5,125.18

$2,168.62

$2,956.56

$1,002.19
$3,503.55
$1,914.72
$6,420.46

2015 - 16

40
0

Health Fairs & Event Days

School Wellness Programme

Public Information Cost ($m)

$122.57

40,107

26

Community Health Days

Screening Tests

$292.60

Amount Approved ($m)

21

$195.04

Beneﬁts ($m)

Number of Project Approved

174,054

18,839

$1,266.82

176,990

40,079

Cumullative Enrolment

Annual Enrolment

JADEP

Beneﬁts ($m)

Cumullative Enrolment

Annual Enrolment

NHFcard

$121.59

55,861

1

122

77

$917.31

18

$258.23

192,418

18,364

$1,689.28

212,937

35,947

$161.65

74,400

7

158

86

$921.79
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$336.63

209,447

17,029

$2,040.68

245,327

32,390

$152.67

234,210

10,665

$2,588.86

301,785

29,568

$920.04

41

$112.23

43,525

7

81

54

$109.41

30,000

3

79
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PUBLIC INFORMATION

$723.38

40

326,781

24,996

$113.43

29,520

3

99
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$740.85

43

$134.27

247,248

13,038

$3,037.56

INDIVIDUAL BENEFITS

$244.15

223,545

14,098

$2,177.78

272,217

26,890

INDIVIDUAL BENEFITS

$113.74

51,590

14

122

78

$2,255.81

136

$104.43

257,141

9,628

$3,424.35

356,801

30,020

$102.17

81,279

10

148

74

$923.65

103

$106.70

267,686

10,545

$3,614.52

383,201

26,400

123.44

79,598

22

251

74

$1,311.58

81

$127.06

279,023

11,337

$3,908.61

413,272

30,071

104.6

100,063

19

254

83

$1,950.74

41

$127.78

290,029

11,006

$4,181.34

442,115

28,843

$6,433.43

$3,819.82

$2,613.61

$1,206.25
$3,947.85
$2,173.20
$7,327.30

2016 - 17

On April 1, 2011, the NHF assumed responsibility for the procurement, warehousing and distribution of pharmaceuticals to the public health sector and the retail pharmacy operations of Drug Serv

0

0

2010 - 11

REVENUE FROM TAXATION ($m)

2009 - 10

REVENUE FROM SALE OF PHARMACEUTICALS ($m)*

$896.06
$1,391.79
$898.10
$3,185.95

0

$577.39
$1,394.49
$636.90
$2,608.78

Tobacco Tax
Payroll Tax
5% of SCT
Total Revenue From Taxation

2008 - 09

Warehouse Operations
Drug Serv Pharmacies
(Retail Sales)

2007 - 08

PARTICULARS

SUMMARY OF TEN YEARS OF PERFORMANCE

National Health Fund
Financial Statements
31 March 2017
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NATIONAL HEALTH FUND
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 MARCH 2017
Note
ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investments

2017
$M

2016
$M

327.03
10.02
4,785.32

250.08
12.09
4,592.65

5,122.37

4,854.82

9

1,507.12

1,380.84

10
10

2,260.22
2,897.71
0.01
4,406.08
646.70

3,135.35
2,903.53
0.11
3,947.71
1,015.36

11,717.84

12,382.90

16,840.21

17,237.72

4,369.19
8,746.40
889.26
2.70

5,774.84
7,724.23
175.31
-

14,007.55

13,674.38

6
7
8

CURRENT ASSETS:
Inventories
Accounts receivable:
Ministry of Health
Other receivables
Taxation recoverable
Securities purchased under resale agreement
Cash and cash equivalents

11
12

RESERVES AND LIABILITIES
RESERVES:
General Fund
Trust Fund
Institutional Benefits Fund
Revaluation reserve

13

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY:
Institutional Benefits payable

14

260.83

163.64

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Payables
Current portion of Institutional Benefits payable

15
14

1,257.36
1,314.47

1,751.18
1,648.52

2,571.83

3,399.70

16,840.21

17,237.72

The financial statements on pages 44 to 84 were approved by the Board of Management on 26 July 2017
and signed on its behalf by:
Gregory Mair
Chairman

Everton W. Anderson
Chief Executive Officer

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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2,438.66
(55.73)

1,201.22

5,129.44

Surplus/(deficit) for the year

0.12
222.94
809.04
169.12

4,309.12
132.09
4.10
104.60
362.02
217.51

1,145.49

7,568.10

(1,261.12)

2,170.77

3.94
607.53
1,190.96
368.34

909.65

89.75

76.38

240.79

Expenses:
Individual Benefits
Transaction Processing costs
Enrolment costs
Institutional Benefits
Institutional Benefits (written-back)
Health promotion activities
Staff Costs (note 17)
Provision for impairment of receivables (note 10)
Administration and other expenses (note 19)

0.39
89.36

1.66
42.55
32.17

819.90

1,069.11

217.82
21.19
1.78

3,819.22
(2,999.32)

-

2,613.61
(1,544.50)

-

7,327.31

-

Drug Serv
Division
$M

7,327.31

1,206.25
3,947.85
2,173.21

Total
$M

1,121.81

8,501.43

4,309.12
132.09
4.10
108.66
1,192.49
2,000.00
754.97

9,623.24

406.92

219.87
63.74
123.31

1,889.01

6,432.83
(4,543.82)

2017

-

-

1,206.25
3,947.85
2,173.21

Pharmaceutical
Division
$M

Total revenue, net of expenses

Other income:
Grant Income (note 16)
Interest income
Foreign exchange
Other

Pharmaceutical and Drug Serv Divisions:
Operating Revenue
Cost of operating revenue

Remittances from the
Government of Jamaica:
Tobacco Tax
National Insurance
Special Consumption Tax

Head Office
$M

General Fund

-

-

-

-

655.81

-

-

655.81

655.81

400.13
255.68
-

$M

Trust Fund

-

-

-

-

(1,447.15)

1,930.04

1,950.74
(20.70)
-

482.89

482.89

482.89
-

$M

Institutional
Benefits Fund

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.70

$M

Revaluation
Reserve

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

1,879.00

4,816.48

4,035.67
122.28
5.51
123.44
328.45
201.13

6,695.48

275.02

258.75
15.16
1.11

-

-

6,420.46

1,002.19
3,503.55
1,914.72

Head Office
$M

STATEMENT OF SURPLUS OR DEFICIT AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

NATIONAL HEALTH FUND

726.85

320.88

1.01
193.90
125.97

1,047.73

58.23

0.40
16.91
40.92

989.50

2,956.54
(1,967.04)

-

-

Pharmaceutical
Division
$M

(171.11)

672.93

0.58
438.75
233.60

501.82

63.10

0.25
62.85

438.72

6,420.46

1,002.19
3,503.55
1,914.72

Total
$M

2,434.74

5,810.29

4,035.67
122.28
5.51
125.03
961.10
560.70

8,245.03

396.35

259.40
32.07
104.88

1,428.22

5,125.16
(3,696.94)

2016

2,168.62
(1,729.90)

-

-

Drug Serv
Division
$M

General Fund

663.90

-

-

663.90

663.90

400.61
263.29
-

-

-

-

-

$M

Trust Fund

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1,098.49)

1,098.49

1,311.58
(213.09)
-

$M

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.70

$M

Institutional Revaluation
Benefits Fund
Reserve
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2,438.66

-

2,438.66

(55.73)

-

(55.73)

(1,261.12)

-

(1,261.12)

Drug Serv
Division
$M

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Surplus/(deficit) for the year b/fwd
Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit
or loss Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment

Head Office
$M

Pharmace
utical
Division
$M

General Fund

1,121.81

-

1,121.81

Total
$M

2017

655.81

-

655.81

$M

Trust Fund

(1,447.15)

-

(1,447.15)

$M

2.70

2.70

-

$M

Institutional Revaluation
Benefits Fund
Reserve

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

1,879.00

-

1,879.00

726.85

-

726.85

(171.11)

-

(171.11)

Drug Serv
Division
$M

General Fund

Pharmace
utical
Head Office Division
$M
$M

STATEMENT OF SURPLUS OR DEFICIT AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

NATIONAL HEALTH FUND

2,434.74

-

2,434.74

Total
$M

663.90

-

663.90

$M

Trust Fund

2016

(1,098.49)

-

(1,098.49)

$M

Institutional
Benefits Fund

\

$M

-

-

-

Revaluation
Reserve

NATIONAL HEALTH FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES
	
  

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

BALANCE AT 1 APRIL 2015
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Surplus/(deficit) for the year
	
  	
  
Transfer to Trust Fund

	
  

Encashment from Trust Fund
Transfer to Institutional Benefits Fund
BALANCE AT 31 MARCH 2016

	
  

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME -	
  
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Transfer to Trust Fund
	
  
Transfer to Institutional Benefits Fund
BALANCE AT 31 MARCH 2017

Institutional
Benefits
Revaluation
Fund
Reserve
$M
$M

General
Fund
$M

Trust
Fund
$M

3,902.72

7,534.95

2,434.73

663.90

( 321.03)

321.03

795.65

236.57
(1,098.49)

-

5,774.84

7,724.23

1,121.81
.
1,121.81

.

655.81
.
655.81

( 366.36)

-

.

4,369.19

8,746.40

-

2,000.14	
  
-

-

-

-

1,037.23

-

-

175.31

-

13,674.38

(1,447.15)
.
(1,447.15)
2,161.10

	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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11,674.24

-

366.36

(2,161.10)

-

-

( 795.65)

(1,037.23)

Total
$M

889.26.

2.70
2.70

.

330.47	
  
2.70
333.17

-

-

-

-

2.70

14,007.55

.

NATIONAL HEALTH FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
2017
$M

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Surplus/(deficit) for the year:
General Fund
Trust Fund
Institutional Benefit Fund

1,121.81
655.81
(1,447.15)

2,434.73
663.90
( 1,098.49)

330.47

Items not affecting cash resources
Property, plant and equipment adjustment
Depreciation
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

(

Provision for impairment of receivables

	
  

2016
$M

1.17
60.56
0.65)

2,000.00

Unrealized foreign exchange translation
Amortisation
Interest income

( 272.65)
7.40
( 620.00)

2,000.14

(

(

(
(

46.09	
  
0.43)

0.43)	
  

295.36)	
  
5.20
659.76)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Inventories
Receivables
Taxation recoverable
Institutional Benefits
Payables

1,506.30

1,095.88

( 126.28)
(1,111.34)
0.10
( 236.86)
( 498.04)

( 561.89)
( 924.62)
8.39
35.57
100.65

Cash used in operating activities

( 466.12)

( 246.02)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets
Securities purchased under resale agreements (net)
Investments (net)
Proceeds from sale of asset
Interest received

( 142.80)
( 202.69)
( 175.01)
2.14
612.29

( 125.15)
439.01
71.10
0.43
673.94

Cash provided by investing activities

93.93

	
  

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Effect of translation adjustments
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

( 372.19)
3.53
1,015.36

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (note 12)

	
  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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1,059.33
( 813.31)
8.28	
  
193.77
1,015.36

NATIONAL HEALTH FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 MARCH 2017
1.

IDENTIFICATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY:
(a)

National Health Fund (“NHF” or the “Fund”) was established by the National Health
Fund Act No. 23/2003 (“NHF Act or “the Act”) of 11 December 2003, effective 1 April
2003, with a mandate to reduce the burden on healthcare in Jamaica. On 1 March
2004, the operations of the Fund came under the responsibility of a Board of
Management appointed by the Minister of Health in accordance with the Act.
On 8 March 2011, the NHF Act was amended to allow for a transfer of the assets and
liabilities of Health Corporation Limited (HCL) to the NHF. Consequently, on 1 April
2011, the NHF assumed responsibility for the procurement, warehousing and
distribution of pharmaceuticals and medical sundries, and the retail pharmacy
operations of Drug Serv.
The head office of the Fund is situated at 25 Dominica Drive, Kingston 5, Saint Andrew,
Jamaica.
Under Section 16 of the NHF Act, the income of the Fund arising under the Act is not
liable to income tax.
Since 1 April 2011, the principal activities of the NHF have been to:
•

Provide prescribed health benefits to all residents, regardless of age, gender,
health or economic status;

•

Provide greater access to medical treatment and preventative care for specified
diseases and specified medical conditions;

•

Secure improvement in the productivity of residents by reducing time lost on the
job that is attributable to personal and family health care problems;

•

Reduce the Island’s disease burden through health promotion and protection
programs;

•

Provide support to health services and promote and encourage the utilization of
primary health care to improve the quality of life of the Island’s population; and

•

Make pharmaceutical and medical supplies accessible and available to
government-owned health facilities.
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1.

IDENTIFICATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY (CONT’D):
(b)

Operationally, the NHF is expected to achieve its mandate through the following
programs:
(i)

(ii)

(c)

(a)

NHFcard – provides a drug subsidy for Jamaican residents of all ages, to
treat prescribed chronic conditions; and

(b)

JADEP – provide drugs, free of cost to Jamaican residents, 60 years of
age and older, and to treat prescribed chronic conditions.

Institutional Benefits – Grant funding is provided for health-related projects
through two programs:
(a)

Health Promotion and Protection Fund – This program covers a range of
health prevention and promotional activities through private and public
sector organizations; and

(b)

Health Support Fund – This program covers infrastructural development
and improvement in the public sector in support of the Government’s
National Health Fund policy through the purchase of equipment,
renovation and refurbishment of facilities and construction of new
facilities. Pan American Health Organization’s (PAHO) essential Public
Health Functions are also used as an evaluation guide.

Cabinet Decision No. 5/17 dated 6 February 2017, gave approval for:
(i)

(ii)

	
  

Individual Benefits – pharmaceuticals and supplies are provided to individuals
to treat chronic illnesses under two programs:

The rescission of the following elements of Decision 12/13 dated 23 March
2013:
(a)

The creation of a new entity called National Health Fund
Pharmaceuticals;

(b)

The transfer of responsibility for the management and delivery of
pharmacy services from the portfolio of the Regional Health Authorities
to the portfolio of National Health Fund Pharmaceuticals, with effect
from 1 April 2013;

The transfer of the management and delivery of pharmacy services from the
portfolio of the Regional Health Authorities to the National Health Fund, with
effect from 3 February 2014.	
  

As at year ended 31 March 2017, seven public sector pharmacies have been taken over
and are now operated under NHF. They are Bustamante Hospital for Children, Percy
Junor Hospital, and Port Maria Hospital (taken over 2014/2015 year), Kingston Public
Hospital and Victoria Jubliee Hospital (taken over 2015/2016 year) and Cornwall
Regional Hospital and Kitson Town Health Centre, (taken over 2016/2017 year).
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1.

IDENTIFICATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY (CONT’D):
(d)

Sustainability Study:
The Board of Management directed that a sustainability study be conducted to assess
the financial strength of the National Health Fund. KPMG Advisory Services was
contracted in November 2016 to carry out the study.
The advisors were required to conduct an assessment to determine the financial
sustainability of the Fund’s functions and its related activities taking into consideration
the Fund’s proposed business model which, subject to an agreement with the MOH and
MOFP will become effective 1 April 2017. Under the proposed business model NHF will
discontinue the mark-up charged to MOH and replace it with billing on a cost recovery
basis plus a 5% management fee.
Under the base case scenario the key findings of the study indicated that, if the
proposed business model is implemented:
•

The Fund’s financial position will weaken while remaining profitable for the
near term. (note 5 (e))	
  

•

The Fund will have limited ability to provide additional benefits unless
additional funding is received or existing individual benefits are restructured.	
  

•

The Fund will not be able to expand benefits and healthcare infrastructure in a
way that is consistent with its goal.	
  

	
  
	
  

The sustainability study is expected to inform Management’s action plans in relation to
the Fund’s strategic imperatives. As ongoing support to NHF’s Management the advisors
developed a financial model which is flexible and modular to enable the NHF to quickly
respond to the evolving changes in the options presented.
(e)

	
  

Public Sector Pharmacy Partner Pilot Programme
On December 19, 2016, the Fund launched its Public Sector Pharmacy Partner Pilot
Programme. Under the programme NHF entered into an agreement with private
pharmacies that allow for public sector patients to have their prescriptions filled at
these pharmacies at an agreed fee. The pilot was to test the viability and how
successful it could be in reducing waiting time in the public sector pharmacies and
makes it more convenient for patients to get their medication. As at the year ended 31
March 2017, seventeen (17) pharmacies have partnered with the Fund on this initiative.
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2.

REPORTING CURRENCY:
Items included in the financial statements of the Fund are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the Fund operates (‘the functional currency’). These
financial statements are presented in Jamaican dollars, which is considered the Fund’s
functional and presentation currency. All amounts are presented in millions of Jamaica dollars
($M) unless otherwise indicated.

3.

	
  

	
  

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:
The principal accounting polices applied in the preparation of these financial statements are
set out below. The policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented.
(a)

Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and have been prepared under the historical cost
convention as modified by the revaluation of property, plant and equipment that are
measured at revalued amounts.
The preparation of financial statements to conform to IFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Fund’s accounting policies. Although these estimates are
based on management’s best knowledge of current events and action, actual results
could differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective
during the year
Certain new standards, interpretations to existing standards and amendments to existing
standards have been published that became effective during the current financial year.
The Fund has assessed the relevance of interpretations and amendments and has
concluded that the following amended standards and interpretations are immediately
relevant to its operations.

	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements:
Disclosure
Initiative’ (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016). These amendments clarify the existing requirements of IAS 1 and provide
additional assistance to apply judgement when meeting the presentation and
disclosure requirements in IFRS. The amendment does not affect recognition and
measurement and is not expected to have a significant impact on the financial
statements.
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31 MARCH 2017
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):	
  
(a)

Basis of preparation (cont’d)
New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective
during the year (cont’d)
Amendments to IAS 16, 'Property, Plant and Equipment' and IAS 38, 'Intangible
Assets' (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016).
In these amendments, the International Accounting Standards Board (lASB) has
clarified that the use of revenue-based methods to calculate the depreciation of an
asset is not appropriate because revenue generated by an activity that includes the
use of an asset generally reflects factors other than the consumption of the
economic benefits embodied in the asset. The Fund does not expect any impact
from the adoption of the amendments on its financial statements as it does not use
revenue-based depreciation or amortisation methods.
New standards, amendments and interpretation not yet effective and not early
adopted
The following new standards, amendments and interpretations, which are not yet
effective and have not been adopted early in these financial statements, will or may
have an effect on the Fund’s future financial statements:
IFRS 9, 'Financial Instruments' (effective for accounting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018). The standard addresses the classification, measurement
and recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. The complete version of
IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014. It replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes revised guidance on
the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, including a
new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment of financial assets and
the new general hedge accounting requirements. It also carries forward the
guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39.
Although the permissible measurement bases for financial assets – amortised cost,
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value though profit
or loss (FVTPL) - are similar to IAS 39, the criteria for classification into the
appropriate measurement category are significantly different. IFRS 9 replaces the
‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ model, which means
that a loss event will no longer need to occur before an impairment allowance is
recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):
(a)

Basis of preparation (cont’d)
New standards, amendments and interpretation not yet effective and not early
adopted (cont’d)
IFRS 15, 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers' (effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The standard deals with revenue
recognition and establishes principles for reporting useful information to users of
financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue
and cash flows arising from an entity's contracts with customers. Revenue is
recognised when a customer obtains control of a good or service and thus has the
ability to direct the use and obtain the benefits from the good or service. The
standard replaces IAS 18 'Revenue' and IAS 11 'Construction contracts' and related
interpretations.
IFRS 16, 'Leases', (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019). The standard primarily addresses the accounting for leases by
lessees. The complete version of IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. The standard
will result in almost all leases being recognised on the statement of financial
position, as it removes the current distinction between operating and finance
leases and requires recognition of an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a
financial liability to pay rentals for virtually all lease contracts. An optional
exemption exists for short term and low-value leases. The accounting by lessors
will not significantly change.
Amendments to IAS 7, ‘Statement of Cash Flows’(effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017), requires an entity to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash
flows and non-cash flows.
The Fund is assessing the impact that these standards and amendments to standards
will have on the financial statements when they are adopted.

(b)

Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of those transactions.
Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated to Jamaican dollars
using the closing rate as at the reporting date. Non-monetary items measured at
historical cost denominated in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates as at the date of initial recognition.
Exchange differences arising from the settlement of transactions at rates different
from those at the dates of the transactions and unrealised foreign exchange differences
on unsettled foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the
statement of surplus or deficit and other comprehensive income (OCI).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):	
  
(c)

Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are recorded at historical or deemed cost, less
accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Fund and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of any replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of surplus or deficit and other
comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis at such rates as will write off the
carrying value of the assets over the period of their expected useful lives. Land is not
depreciated. The expected useful lives of the other property, plant and equipment are
as follows:
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Equipment, furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles
Computer hardware

	
  

5%
33 1/3%
20%
20%
33 1/3%

When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, at the date of revaluation,
the accumulated depreciation on the revalued asset is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued asset. On
disposal of the asset the balance in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained
earnings.
Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by
reference to their carrying amounts and are taken into account in determining profit or
loss.

	
  

	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate,
at each reporting date.
(d)

Intangible asset
Intangible asset which represents computer software is deemed to have a finite useful
life of three years and is measured at cost, less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):
(e)

Impairment of non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets are reviewed for
impairment losses whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the
amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the greater of an asset’s net selling price and value in use. For the purpose of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which, there are
separately identified cash flows. Non financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting
date.

(f)

Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset in one
entity and a financial liability or equity in another entity.
Financial assets
(i)

	
  

Classification
The Fund classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables and held to
maturity investments. The classification depends on the purpose for which the
financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of
its financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at
every reporting date.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They arise
principally through the provision of goods and services to customers (e.g. trade
receivables) but also incorporate other types of contractual monetary asset.
The company’s loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables,
securities purchased under resale agreement and cash and cash equivalents.
They are included in current assets.

	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

Trade receivables are carried at original invoiced amount less provision for
impairment.
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31 MARCH 2017	
  
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):
(f)

Financial instruments (cont’d)
Financial assets (cont’d)

(i)

Classification (cont’d)	
  
Securities purchased under resale agreement –
Securities purchased under resale agreement (“reverse repurchased
agreement”) are transactions whereby securities are bought with simultaneous
agreement for reselling the securities on a specific date at a specified price.
Although the security is delivered to the “buyer” at the transaction date, title
is not actually transferred unless the counterparty fails to repurchase the
securities on the date specified.
Reverse repurchase agreements are accounted for as short-term collaterised
borrowing.

	
  

The difference between the sale and repurchase considerations is recognised
on an accrual basis over the period of the transaction and is included in
interest income.

	
  

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at
cost. For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash at bank and in hand.

	
  

	
  

	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

Held to maturity investments
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determined payments and fixed maturity that the Fund has the positive
intentional ability to hold to maturity. These are classified as non-currrent
assets.
(ii)

Recognition and Measurement
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the tradedate – the date on which the Fund commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs for
all financial assets. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Fund has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership. Loans and receivables and held to maturity investments are
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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31 MARCH 2017	
  
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):
(f)

Financial instruments (cont’d)
Financial assets (cont’d)

	
  

(iii)

	
  

Recognition and Measurement
The estimated fair values of the Fixed Rate Accreting Notes (FRANs) are based
on the present value of future cash flows using the discount rate based on
market yield on other investments with similar maturity as the FRANs. The
difference between the estimated fair value and the amortised costs is
accreted to the maturity amount over the life of the FRANs and recognised in
the statement of surplus or deficit and other comprehensive income as part of
the effective interest income on the FRANs.

	
  

The Fund assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

	
  

For loans and receivables impairment provisions are recognized when there is
objective evidence that the Fund will not collect all of the amounts due under
the terms receivable. The amount of the provision is the difference between
the net carrying amount and the present value of the future expected cash
flows associated with the impaired receivable. For trade receivables which are
reported net, such provisions are recorded in a separate allowance account
with the loss being recognized in profit or loss. On confirmation that the trade
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the associated allowance.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit
or loss.

	
  

Financial liabilities
The Fund’s financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction
costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. At the reporting date, the following items were classified as financial
liabilities: payables and institutional benefits payable.
Payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business from suppliers. Payables are classified as current liabilities
if payments are due within one year or less.
(g)

	
  

Inventories
Inventories, comprising pharmaceuticals and other medical supplies, are valued at the
lower of weighted average cost and net realisable value. Cost represents invoice cost
plus direct inventory-related expenses. Net realisable value is the estimate of the
selling prices in the ordinary course of business, less selling expenses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):
(h)

Employee benefits
(i)

Defined contribution plan
The Fund provides post employment benefits through a defined contribution
plan.
A defined contribution plan is a superannuation plan under which the Fund pays
fixed contributions into a privately administered fund. The Fund has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions after its payment of the
fixed contribution.
Contributions to the plan are recognised as an expense in the period that the
relevant employee services are received.

	
  
(ii)

	
  

Employees’ entitlements to annual leave are recognized when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to year end date.
(i)

	
  

Vacation leave benefits	
  

	
  

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Fund and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at
the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates, and other
sales taxes or duty. Specific recognition criteria are as follows:
(i)

Remittances
Revenue is recorded on the accrual basis in respect of remittances collected by
the following entities on behalf of the Fund:

	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

Tax Administration Jamaica
Jamaica Customs

-

National Insurance Fund

-
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Special Consumption Tax (SCT)
Special Consumption Tax (SCT) and
Tobacco Tax
National Insurance (NIS)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):
(i)

Revenue recognition (cont’d)
(ii)

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible
return of goods can be estimated reliably and there is no continuing
management involvement with the goods. Revenue from the sale of goods is
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of
returns and allowances and discounts.

(iii)

	
  

Interest income
Revenue is recognized in the statement of surplus or deficit for all interest
bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate
method unless collectibility is doubtful.

(j)

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its
financial statements (referred to in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting
entity” that is “the Fund”)
(a)

	
  

(b)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Fund if
that person:
(i)

has control or joint control over the Fund;

(ii)

has significant influence over the Fund; or

(iii)

Is a member of the key management personnel of the Fund or of a
parent of the Fund.	
  

An entity is related to the Fund if any of the following conditions applies:
(i)

(ii)

	
  

The entity and the Fund are members of the same group (which means
that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

	
  

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which the other
entity is a member);
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):

(j)

Related parties (cont’d)	
  
(c)

(iii)

	
  
	
  

	
  
	
  

	
  

An entity is related to the Fund if any of the following conditions applies
(cont’d):

	
  

Both entities are joint venture of the same third party;

(iv)

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third party; 	
  

(v)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan established for the
benefit of employees of either the Fund or an entity related to the
reporting entity;	
  

(vi)

The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in
(a); or	
  

(vii)

A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity)

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between
related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged. The Fund has a related party
relationship with the Ministry of Health, Board of Directors and key management
personnel which represents certain senior officers of the Fund.
(k)

Leases
Leases of assets under which all the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively
retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight line basis over the period of
the lease.

	
  

	
  

	
  
	
  
	
  

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any
payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognized as an
expense in the period in which the termination takes place.
(l)

Reserves
General Fund Reserve General Fund Reserve includes all current and prior retained surpluses and deficits,
distributions to government, and transfers to the Trust Fund and Institutional Benefits
Fund.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):
(l)

Reserves (cont’d)
Trust Fund Reserve The Board of Management made a decision to implement a reserve named the Trust
Fund as part of the Fund’s 25-year strategic plan, 2005-2030.
The Trust Fund was originally designed to be financed by an allocation of 40% of
revenue, effective January 2005. All returns realised on the Trust Fund’s investments
are retained in the Trust Fund. However, during the 2007/2008 financial period, the
Board of Management discontinued transfers of revenue to this account.

	
  

Effective 1 April 2012 the Board of Management reinstituted an annual transfer of 5% of
the remittance from the Government of Jamaica from the General Fund to the Trust
Fund in keeping with the purpose for the Trust Fund, which is to:

	
  

(i)

preserve its long-term viability, sustainability and financial independence; and	
  

(ii)

meet its mission and the mandate under the NHF Act by increasing subsidies and
adding benefits as the basis of a more comprehensive National Health Insurance
Plan.

Institutional Benefits Reserve	
  

	
  

The Institutional Benefits Fund (IBF) was established by a decision of the NHF Board
during the financial period 2005/2006. The IBF was established to facilitate the
allocation of revenue for the approval of institutional benefits payments (see note 1
(b)(ii)). Allocation is based on the net revenue available after transfers to the Trust
Fund and all operating expenses are charged against revenue.
(m)

Grant income
Grant income is recognized when the grant is received.

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES:
Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

	
  

(a)

Critical judgements in applying the Fund’s accounting policies
In the process of applying the Fund’s accounting policies, management has not made
any judgements that it believes would cause a significant impact on the amounts
recognized in the financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D):
(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The Fund makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below:

	
  

	
  

(i)

Fair value estimation
A number of assets and liabilities included in the Fund’s financial
statements require disclosure at fair value.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date.
The fair value measurement of the Fund’s financial and non-financial assets
and liabilities utilizes market observable inputs and data as far as possible.
Inputs used in determining fair value measurements are categorized into
different levels based on how observable are the inputs used in the valuation
technique utilized i.e. ‘the fair value hierarchy’:

	
  

	
  
	
  

Level 1

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities.

Level 2

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that
is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

Level 3

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

The Fund has no financial instruments that are carried at fair value subsequent
to initial recognition.
(The Fund measures property, plant and equipment at fair value. (note 6)).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D):	
  
(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d) 	
  
(ii)

Net realisable value of inventories
Estimates of net realisable value are based on the most reliable evidence
available at the time the estimates are made of the amount the inventories are
expected to realise. These estimates take into consideration fluctuations of
price or cost directly relating to events occurring after the end of the period to
the extent that such events confirm conditions existing at the end of the
period.
Estimates of net realisable value also take into consideration the purpose for
which the inventory is held (see note 3 (g)).

(iii)

Residual value and expected useful life of property, plant and equipment
The residual value and the expected useful life of an asset are reviewed at
each financial year end, and if, expectations differ from previous estimates,
the change is accounted for. The useful life of an asset is defined in terms of
the asset’s expected value in use to the Fund.

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT:
The Fund is exposed through its operations to the following financial risks:
§
§
§

Credit risk
Liquidity risk
Market risk

In common with all other businesses, the Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of risks that
arise from its use of financial instruments. This note describes the Fund’s objectives, policies
and processes for managing those risks to minimize potential adverse effects on the financial
performance of the Fund and the methods used to measure them.

	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

For the period under review (2016/2017) there was no substantive change in the Fund’s
exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives, policies and processes for managing those
risks or the methods used to measure them from previous periods unless otherwise stated in
this note.
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5.
	
  

31 MARCH 2017	
  
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):	
  
(a)

The principal financial instruments used by the Fund, from which financial instrument
risk arises, are as follows:

	
  

	
  

	
  

	
  
	
  

Principal financial instruments

(b)

Receivables
Securities purchased under resale agreement
Investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Institutional Benefits payable
Payables

Financial instruments by category
Financial assets
Loans and receivables
2017
2016
$M
$M

Held to Maturity
2017
2016
$M
$M

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Securities purchased
under resale agreement
Investments

646.70
4,378.19

1,015.36
5,473.50

-

4,406.08
-

3,947.71
-

4,785.32

4,592.65

Total financial assets

9,430.97

10,436.57

4,785.32

4,592.65

Financial liabilities

-

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
2017
2016
$M
$M

Payables
Institutional Benefits payable

771.89
1,575.30

1,375.17
1,812.16

Total financial liabilities

2,347.19

3,187.33
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):	
  
(c)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
The fair value of held to maturity investments and securities purchased under resale
agreements are disclosed in notes 8 and 11, respectively. The fair value is only
calculated for disclosure purposes.
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, payables and short term
institutional benefits payable is assumed to approximate their carrying value due to
their short-term nature and/or ability to effect offset of amounts.
The fair value of long-term institutional benefits payable is assumed to approximate to
its carrying value as no loss on realisation or discount on settlement is anticipated.

	
  

(d)

Financial risk factors The Board of Management of the Fund, subject to provisions of the National Health
Fund Act has the responsibility to establish a risk management framework for the
general administration of the affairs of the Fund. The Board of Management is
appointed by the Minister of Health with directives for the establishment of this
framework.
Risk management policies and procedures are established to identify, evaluate and
analyse the risk faced by the Fund, to set appropriate controls, and to monitor
adherence to the established standards.

	
  

The risk management policies may be affected by public policies, local laws and
regulations and the Government of Jamaica’s socio-economic policies in specified
areas. The Board of Management has the responsibility for establishing a risk
management framework which incorporates these other policies. The Board of
Management also establishes policies to address market and liquidity risks on an
ongoing basis which are also monitored and reviewed regularly to reflect changes in
current market conditions.
Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect relevant
changes in the local statutory regulations, government policies and the social and
economic environment. The Fund, through its training and management standards and
procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment, in
which all employees understand their roles and obligation.
(i)

Credit risk Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to
discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss.
Credit risk arises from trade and other receivables, and cash and cash
equivalents, securities purchased under resale agreement and investment.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):
(d)

Financial risk factors (cont’d) (i)

Credit risk (cont’d) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are placed with approved financial institutions for
short-term period and management believes that these institutions have a
minimal risk of default. The Fund has policies that limit the amount of credit
exposure to any one financial institution.
Securities purchased under resale agreement

	
  

Securities purchased under resale agreement are collateralized by Government
of Jamaica securities.
Investments
Investments are allowed primarily in secure liquid instruments and with
counterparties that the Board of Management believes do not offer any
significant credit risk and in Government of Jamaica securities. The Board of
Management manages credit risk by having an investment policy which includes
written authority levels and prior approval by the Board of Management of
significant investment transactions. Based on its assessment, the Board of
Management does not expect any counterparties to fail to meet their
obligations.
Trade receivables

	
  
	
  

	
  
	
  
	
  

Revenue transactions in respect of the Fund’s primary operations are settled
either in cash or by credit. For its operations done on a credit basis, the Fund
has policies in place to ensure that sales of goods are made to customers with
an appropriate credit history.
Maximum exposure to credit risk	
  
Amounts due from contributing Government of Jamaica departments are
followed up for collection. There is significant concentration of credit risk as
approximately 90% (2016: 90.52%) of sales is generated from the Government
of Jamaica's (GOJ's) health facilities, which represents approximately 95.7%
(2016: 94.32%) of the trade receivables balance as at the end of the reporting
period. Receivables due from the GOJ's health facilities are not expected to
become uncollectible within the next twelve (12) months from the end of the
reporting period.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):
(d)

	
  

Financial risk factors (cont’d) (i)

Credit risk (cont’d) Maximum exposure to credit risk (cont’d)	
  
The aging of the amount due from Ministry of Health at the end of the
reporting date is as follows:	
  
2017
2016
$M
$M

	
  
	
  

	
  

0-30 days
31-60 days
61-90 days
More than 90 days (past-due)

520.63
458.00
402.59
2,879.00

293.13
164.54
150.05
2,527.63

4,260.22

3,135.35

Trade receivables that are past due but not impaired from Ministry of
Health and Ministry of Finance and Planning	
  
2017
2016
$M
$M
Receivables –
Pharmaceutical and Drug Serv Division
Remittances receivable in respect of taxes
and other receivables
Short-term receivables

879.00

2,527.63

601.32
229.47

753.43
232.65

1,709.79

3,513.71

	
  

	
  

As at 31 March 2017, receivables of $1,709.79M (2016 – $3,513.71M) were past
due but not impaired. The Ministry continues to make payments towards
settling all outstanding amounts subject to the constraints of budgetary
allocations.
Trade receivables that are past due and impaired
Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables from Ministry
of Health are as follows:
2017
2016
$M
$M
At 1 April
Provision for impairment of receivables

2,000.00

- .

At 31 March

2,000.00

- .
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):
(d)

Financial risk factors (cont’d) (i)

Credit risk (cont’d) Trade receivables that are past due and impaired (cont’d)
The creation of a provision for impaired receivables have been included in
expenses in profit or loss. Amounts charged to the allowance account are
generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional
cash. Impairment estimates have been adjusted based on actual collection
patterns.
Other receivables
The other concentration of the Fund's credit risk is with remittances receivable
and trade receivables from other government institutions and non-government
trade receivables. Receivables from non-government institution is mitigated by
regular credit evaluation of those customers with the result that the Fund's
exposure to bad debts is not considered to be significant to the end of the
reporting period.
The aging of other receivables at the end of the reporting date is as follows:

0-30 days
31-60 days
61-90 days
More than 90 days (past-due)

2017
$M

2016
$M

770.30
13.08
48.14
970.49

757.48
105.38
157.49
909.55

1,802.01

1,929.90

There are no off-balance sheet investments and, therefore, the maximum
exposure to credit risk, i.e., the maximum amount of loss that the Fund would
suffer were all counterparties to default at once, is represented by the total
carrying amount of financial assets.
(ii)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk, also referred to as a funding risk, is the risk that the Fund will
encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with
financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a
financial asset quickly at or close to, its fair value. Prudent liquidity risk
management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and
the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed facilities.
Due to the nature of the business, management aims at maintaining flexibility
in funding by following up on revenue and receivables and by maintaining
marketable securities and other financial instruments.
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31 MARCH 2017
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):
(d)

Financial risk factors (cont’d) (ii)

Liquidity risk (cont’d)
An analysis of the contractual undiscounted cash flows of the Fund's financial
liabilities is presented below. The analysis is provided by estimating the timing
of the amounts recognised on the statement of financial position.

	
  

	
  

31 March 2017

Within 3
Months
$M

3 to 12
Months
$M

Over 12
Months
$M

	
  	
  	
  Total	
  

.

Cash
Outflow
$M

Carrying
amount
$M

771.89

771.89

Financial liabilities
Payables
Institutional
Benefits payable

698.70

73.19

243.57

1,070.90

260.83

1,575.30

1,575.30

942.27

1,144.09

260.83

2,347.19

2,347.19

	
  

-

31 March 2016

	
  

Within 3
Months
$M

3 to 12 Over 12
Months Months
$M
$M

	
  Total	
  

Cash
Outflow
$M

.
Carrying
amount
$M

Financial liabilities
Payables
Institutional
Benefits payable

(iii)

865.29

509.88

-

1,375.17

1,375.17

280.98

1,367.54

163.64

1,812.16

1,812.16

1,146.27

1,877.42

163.64

3,187.33

3,187.33

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange
and interest rates, will affect the Fund's income or the value of its holdings of
financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage
and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters while
optimising the returns on risk. Market risk exposures are measured using
sensitivity analysis. All sensitivity analysis rates under IFRS 7 included in these
financial statements are recommended by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Jamaica (ICAJ).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):
(d)

Financial risk factors (cont’d) (iii)

Market risk (cont’d)
(i)

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the market value of, or the cash
flows from, financial statement instruments, will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates.

	
  

Foreign currency risk arises primarily on transactions that are
denominated in a currency other than the Jamaican dollar. Such
exposures comprise the monetary assets and liabilities of the Fund that
are not denominated in the functional currency of the Fund.

The principal foreign currency risks of the Fund are denominated in
United States dollar (US$).
The Fund manages foreign exchange exposure by maintaining adequate
liquid resources in intervening currencies and by managing the timing
of payments of foreign currency liabilities.
The principal foreign currency risks of the Fund, represented by a
balance in the respective currencies are as follows

	
  

Cash and cash equivalents
Securities purchased under
resale agreement
Investments
Payables

2017
US$M

2016
US$M

2.61

1.75

14.43
27.03
( 0.34)

12.59	
  
27.03
( 8.10)

43.73

33.27

The bank of Jamaica exchange rates in terms of Jamaican dollars were
as follows:
Exchange rates
US$
31 March 2017

127.77

31 March 2016

121.36
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):
(d)

Financial risk factors (cont’d) (iii)

Market Risk (cont’d)
(i)

Foreign currency risk (cont’d)
Sensitivity analysis:

	
  

A 6% (2016: 8%) strengthening of the United States dollar against the
Jamaican dollar would have increased the surplus/decreased the
deficit for the year by $335.24M (2016: $323.01M). A 1% (2016: 1%)
weakening, would have decreased the surplus/increased the deficit by
$55.87M (2016: $40.38M).
This analysis assumes that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

	
  

The analysis is done on the same basis as in 2016.
(ii)

	
  

	
  

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk of loss from fluctuations in future cash
flows or from fair value movements of financial instruments due to
changes in market interest rates.
At the reporting date, the interest profile of the Fund’s interest
bearing financial instruments was:
Carrying amount
2017
2016
$M
$M
Fixed rate instrument:
Financial assets

6,808.00

6,658.41

Variable rate instrument:
Financial assets

2,390.50

1,881.95	
  

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Fund does not account for any fixed rate financial assets at fair
value through the statement of surplus or deficit and other
comprehensive income (OCI). Therefore, a change in interest rates at
the reporting date would not affect the statement of comprehensive
income.
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31 MARCH 2017
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):
(d)

Financial risk factors (cont’d) (iii)

Market Risk (cont’d)
(ii)

Interest rate risk (cont’d)

	
  

Sensitivity analysis (cont’d):
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments:
Increase/(decrease)
In surplus
2017
2016
$M
$M
1% (2016: 1%) increase
0.5% (2016: 1.5%) decrease

	
  

23.91
(11.95)

18.82
(28.23)

The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular, foreign
currency rates remain constant.
(e)

Reserve management The Fund’s objectives when managing reserves are to safeguard the Fund’s ability to
continue as a going concern, in order to meet all future liabilities and expenses and to
fulfil its mandate. In order to assess its ability to achieve this the Board of Management
directed that a sustainability study be conducted.

	
  

	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

The sustainability study was carried out by KPMG Advisory Services giving consideration
to the proposed business model as described in note 1d.
As part of the transition to this proposed arrangement, management has proposed to
the MOH a write-off of $2,000M of existing receivables, contingent upon a payment
plan being agreed among NHF, MOH and MOFP with respect to the remaining balance.
An impairment provision of $2,000M has, accordingly, been recorded in the current
year against existing receivables from the MOH.
The proposed arrangement is critical to reducing the cash flow burden on the NHF in its
supply of pharmaceutical supplies to the public sector.
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6.

Cost/deemed cost 1 April 2015
Additions
Disposal

	
  

	
  
	
  

.

	
  

	
  

Lease hold
Improvement
& Building
$M
56.78
42.95
-

Furniture,
Fixtures &
Office
Equipment
$M

Motor
Vehicles
$M

Total
$M

156.21
71.80
-

91.69
5.32
( 2.67)

304.68
120.07
( 2.67)

31 March 2016
Additions
Disposal
Revaluation
Adjustment

99.73
51.35
( 60.71)
88.08

228.01
86.12
(160.67)
37.72

94.34
( 5.59)
10.71

422.08
137.47
( 66.30) .
(160.67)	
  
136.51

31 March 2017

178.45

191.18

99.46

469.09

13.14
5.62
-

101.66
23.60
-

13.78
16.87
( 2.67)

128.58
46.09
( 2.67)

125.26
35.81
(163.37)
38.81

27.98
17.29
( 4.10)
10.75

172.00
60.56
( 64.81)
(163.37)
137.68

Depreciation 1 April 2015
Charge for the year
Disposal

	
  

	
  

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:

31 March 2016
Charge for the year
Disposal
Revaluation adjustment
Adjustment

18.76
7.46
( 60.71)
88.12

31 March 2017

53.63

36.51

51.92

142.06

Net Book Value 31 March 2017

124.82

154.67

47.54

327.03

31 March 2016

80.97

102.75

66.36

250.08

The assets of the National Health Fund classified as computer hardware, furniture, equipment,
fixtures and fittings located at its Head Office facilities at 25 Dominica Drive, Kingston 5 and its
other seventeen locations islandwide were appraised by Delano Reid and Associates Limited
during the period 19 January 2016 to 31 March 2016. The appraisal was done in order to
determine the deemed cost for the assets assessed.

74

	
  

NATIONAL HEALTH FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 MARCH 2017

	
  
6.

	
  

	
  
	
  

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D):
The fair value of property, plant and equipment is a level 3 recurring fair value measurement.
A reconciliation of the opening and closing fair value balance is as follows –
2017
$M
102.75 	
  
86.12	
  
2.70
( 35.81)
( 1.09)

Opening balance
Additions
Revaluation adjustments
Depreciation
Adjustments

154.67
The fair value of plant and equipment was determined based on the fair market value installed
approach. The method is an opinion expressed in terms of money, at which the asset would
change hands between a willing buyer and a willing seller, neither being under any compulsion
to buy or sell and both having reasonable knowledge of relevant facts, considering market
conditions for the asset being valued, Independent of earnings generated by the business in
which the asset is or will be installed, as of specific date.
Deemed cost of the plant and equipment includes revaluation surplus of $2.7M.
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7.

31 MARCH 2017
INTANGIBLE ASSETS:
Computer software
$M

Cost:
1 April 2015
Additions

	
  

	
  

8.

51.14
5.08

31 March 2016
Additions

56.22
5.33

31 March 2017

61.55

Amortisation:
1 April 2015
Charge for the year

38.93
5.20

31 March 2016
Charge for the year

44.13
7.40

31 March 2017

51.53

Net Book Value:
31 March 2017

10.02

31 March 2016

12.09

INVESTMENTS:
Held to maturity:

2017
$M

2016
$M

3,481.02
1,304.30

3,312.21
1,280.44

4,785.32

4,592.65

Government of Jamaica Bonds

	
  

	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

8.00% - 10.625% (2016: 8.00% - 10.625%)
United States dollar bonds $27.03M (2016: $27.03M)
10% (2016: 10%) Jamaica dollar bonds

The fair value of the Government of Jamaica Bonds is $5,327.55M (2016: $4,944.86M) a level 2
recurring fair value measurement.
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9.

31 MARCH 2017	
  
INVESTMENTS (CONT’D):
Held to maturity (cont’d):
The terms to maturity of these bonds are analysed as follows:

Long-term investments:
Over 5 years

4,785.32

INVENTORIES:

2017
$M

Pharmaceuticals and other supplies
Goods-in-transit
Less: allowance for impairment
10.

RECEIVABLES:
(a)

	
  
	
  

	
  

(b)

2016
$M
4,592.65

2016
$M

1,456.15
52.57
(
1.60)

1,128.80
253.64
( 1.60)

1,507.12

1,380.84

Due from the Ministry of Health

Amount receivable in respect of
Pharmaceutical and Drug Serv Division
Provision for impairment of receivables

	
  

2017
$M

2017
$M

2016
$M

4,260.22
(2,000.00)

3,135.35
.

2,260.22

3,135.35

Other receivables at the end of the reporting date were as follows:	
  

Remittance receivables in respect of taxes
Interest receivable
GCT recoverable
Other receivables
Other trade receivables
Current and past-due maturities of long-term
receivables
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2017
$M

2016
$M

1,610.82
86.49
470.03
309.71
191.19

1,791.55
78.78
335.81
229.57
138.35	
  

229.47

329.47

2,897.71

2,903.53
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11.

31 MARCH 2017
RECEIVABLES (CONT’D):
Other receivables include $89.07M (2016: $50.95M) due from the Ministry of Health Jamaica
Second HIV/STI project.
SECURITIES PURCHASED UNDER RESALE AGREEMENTS:

Trust Fund
General Fund

	
  

2016
$M

3,841.35
564.73

3,017.26
930.45

4,406.08

3,947.71

The fair value of the underlying securities, held in respect of resale agreement, amounted to:

Trust Fund
General Fund

12.

2017
$M

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:

Interest-bearing accounts
Non-interest bearing accounts
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2017
$M

2016
$M

4,068.00
581.44

3,187.52
960.77

4,649.44

4,148.29

2017
$M

2016
$M

643.78
2.92

1,014.30
1.06

646.70

1,015.36
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13.

31 MARCH 2017	
  
TRUST FUND:

Balance at beginning of year
Foreign exchange gain
5% remittance from GOJ transferred
from general fund
Interest income
Encashment

	
  

At the reporting date, the Trust Fund is represented by:

Disbursements from the Fund were as follows:

14.

7,724.23
255.68

7,534.95
263.29
321.03
400.61
( 795.65).

8,746.40

7,724.23

2017
$M

2016
$M

4,785.32
3,841.35
119.73

4,592.65
3,017.26
114.32

8,746.40

7,724.23

2017
$M

(i) Payments to Pharmaceutical suppliers
(ii) Institutional Benefits project (HSF 383 Linear accelerators
and facilities for cancer treatment project)

	
  

2016
$M

366.36
400.13
-

Investments (note 8)
Securities purchased under resale agreements (note 11)
Revenue receivables

	
  

2017
$M

2016
$M

-

626.32

-

169.33

-

795.65	
  

INSTITUTIONAL BENEFITS PAYABLE:
As at the reporting date, institutional benefits committed and payable were as follows:
2017
$M

2016
$M

Balance at April 1
Projects approved during the year
Amounts disbursed during the year
Amounts written back

1,812.16
1,950.74
(2,166.90)
(
20.70)

1,776.59
1,311.58
(1,062.92)
( 213.09)

Balance at 31 March
Less: current portion

1,575.30
(1,314.47)

1,812.16
(1,648.52)

260.83
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16.
	
  

	
  

	
  

	
  
PAYABLES:	
  

31 MARCH 2017	
  

Trade payables:
Head Office (JADEP Drugs)
Pharmaceutical and Drug Serv Divisions
Ministry of Health
Statutory deductions
Accrued incentive
Accrued vacation leave
GCT payables
Other payables and accrued charges

2017
$M

2016
$M

0.77
771.12
23.21
93.11
52.44
91.68
225.03

5.20
1,369.97
0.23	
  
20.76
59.94	
  
43.36
72.42	
  
179.30

1,257.36

1,751.18

The aging of the trade payables in respect of the Pharmaceutical and Drug Serv Divisions at the
end of the reporting date is as follows:	
  
2017
2016
$M
$M
0-30 days
31-60 days
61-90 days
More than 90 days

281.53
270.94
145.46
73.19

340.80
277.67
241.62
509.88

771.12

1,369.97	
  

The amount due to the Ministry of Health represents the balance due from the funds remitted
by the Ministry for the procurement of pharmaceutical supplies on behalf of the Second
Jamaica HIV/STI Project (see note 22); this amount is included in the cash balances as at the
reporting date.
Other payables and accrued charges include amounts accrued for pension and other staff
related costs.
	
  
GRANT INCOME:
	
  
During the year grant income was received from the Tourism Enhancement Fund (TEF) and the
Culture, Health, Arts, Sports and Education (CHASE) Fund, in relation to the Cancer Treatment
Centres Project at Cornwall Regional Hospital and St. Josephs Hospital as follows:
2017
$M
CHASE Fund
TEF

444.52
38.37
482.89
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17.

STAFF COSTS:

Salaries
Employer’s contributions
Other payroll costs

2017
$M

2016
$M

990.78
81.68
120.03

791.38
71.96
97.76

1,192.49

961.10

The number of persons employed by the Fund at the end of the year was:
	
  

	
  

	
  

18.

	
  

	
  

	
  

Temporary
Permanent

	
  

	
  

	
  2017

2016

174
241

139
241

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS:
The Board of Management operates a contributory pension scheme which became effective 1
November 2011, for all employees who have satisfied certain minimum service requirements.
The scheme is a defined contribution plan and is administered by Victoria Mutual Pensions
Management Limited (formerly Prime Asset Management Limited).
Contributions made during the year amounted to $38.89M (2016: $37.80M).
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19.

EXPENSES BY NATURE:

31 MARCH 2017

Total administration and other expenses:
Pharmace
Head

utical

Drug Serv

Office

Division
$M

Division

2017

2016

$M

$M

$M

$M
Depreciation

26.88

18.44

22.64

67.96

51.29

Rental of building

21.70

20.00

(1.77)

39.93

31.21

-

2.46

1.23

3.69

1.01

25.40

23.00

6.58

54.98

49.89

Insurance

4.79

5.66

2.36

12.81

10.04

Professional fees

6.37

7.80

11.17

25.34

14.03

Legal fees

1.20

4.32

-

5.52

2.90

Board meeting expenses

2.11

-

-

2.11

3.44

-

0.68

10.43

11.11

13.68

2.44

-

-

2.44

2.20

Rental of equipment
Maintenance - building

Refurbishing expenses
Motor vehicle expenses
Repairs & maintenance - equipment,
fixtures & furniture

34.43

(1.12)

40.39

73.70

29.17

Other administrative costs

10.83

1.03

2.08

13.94

12.56

Postage and courier

0.81

0.36

2.11

3.28

3.00

Information Technology Expense

23.58

-

-

23.58

22.65

Printing, stationery and office supplies

17.26

11.08

20.46

48.80

38.72

-

6.42

168.50

174.92

107.28
7.39

Temporary staff salary
Audit fees - current year

2.24

- prior year overprovision

-

Summer employment programme

2.59

3.26

8.09

(4.43)

(5.09)

(9.52)

13.53

-

-

Staff welfare

1.41

2.52

3.21

7.14

3.89

Staff training

7.42

4.67

7.33

19.42

14.65

Security

1.23

21.62

28.82

51.67

38.55

Dues, subscription and donations

0.13

0.15

-

0.28

0.35

Board fees

1.33

-

-

1.33

0.92

-

20.85

5.02

25.87

24.66

1.25

5.68

12.86

19.79

11.72

-

2.92

4.66

7.58

6.76

10.25

6.62

12.28

29.15

27.73

-

-

0.17

0.17

1.96

0.92

5.80

6.77

13.49

13.50

-

-

2.87

2.87

-

217.51

169.12

368.34

754.97

560.70

Utilities
Local & overseas travel & accommodation
Cleaning & sanitation
Telephone and fax expenses
Pension Fund Management Fees
Bank Processing Fees
Dispensing fees
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20.

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS:
(a)

	
  

	
  

Remittances in respect of share of taxes
Operating revenue - Pharmaceutical Division
- Drug Serv Division
Ministry of Health - HIV Management project
Interest income on investments in GOJ securities
Institutional benefits expensed relating to various
GOJ health related projects
(b)

(c)

	
  

7,327.31
2,506.82
3,382.96
30.34
129.53

6,420.46
2,837.66
1,801.32
38.80
128.09

(1,929.51)

(1,311.58)

Key management compensation –
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Fund, directly or indirectly,
including any Director. The Board of Management and ten senior executives of the
Fund are its “key management” personnel. Compensation for such persons was as
follows:
2017
2016
$M
$M	
  
Board of Management and Executives Emoluments:Fees (note 19)
1.33
0.92
Management remuneration (Included in staff costs)
58.92
57.11
Other key management personnel - short-term
employee benefits (Included in staff costs)
41.26
38.97
Board meeting expenses (note 19)
2.11
3.44
103.62
100.44

	
  

	
  

Surplus/(deficit) for the year includes the income earned from, and expenses incurred
in transactions with related parties, as follows:
2017
2016
$M
$M

Year-end balances arising from transactions with related parties

Investments in GOJ securities
Amount due from Ministry of Health (note 10)
Remittance receivable in respect of share of taxes
from Tax Administration Jamaica, Jamaica Customs
and National Insurance Fund (note 10)
Payable (statutory deductions) (note 15)
Institutional Benefits payable to Ministry of Health
(for health related projects)
Amount due from Ministry of Finance, Planning and the
Public Service (note 10)
Amount due to Ministry of Health (note 15)
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2017
$M

2016
$M

4,785.32
2,260.22

4,592.65
3,135.35

1,610.82
23.21

1,791.55
20.76

1,561.88

1,801.17

229.47
-

329.47
0.23
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21.

	
  

LEASE COMMITMENTS:
Rentals are payable by the Fund under operating lease agreements as follows:

Within 12 months
Subsequent years

	
  

22.

	
  

2017
$M

2016
$M

63.05
28.78

43.18
32.16

91.83

75.34

MINISTRY OF HEALTH - JAMAICA SECOND HIV/STI PROJECT:
Health Corporation Limited had a contractual arrangement with the Ministry of Health (MOH)
(acting through the Project Coordination Unit of the Jamaica Second HIV/STI Project), for the
procurement, transportation and storage of drugs and other medical supplies. This contractual
arrangement was assumed by National Health Fund upon the transfer of assets and liabilities
and operations of Health Corporation Limited. The agreement was scheduled to continue for
the duration of the project to 30 November 2012, or as extended based on further
arrangements.
At the reporting date the project was not yet closed.
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Emolument
Package
Directors Compensation 2016/2017
Position of Director

Fees ($m)

Motor Vehicle
Upkeep/Travelling
or Value of
Assignment of
Motor Vehicle ($m)

All Other
Compensation
including
Honoraria
Non-Cash
($m)
Beneﬁts as
applicable ($m)

Total ($m)

Board Members

1,327,500.00

1,327,500.00

Committee

1,203,066.00

1,203,066.00

Meeting Cost

909,361.30

909,361.30

Board Retreat
Other
NB: Where a non-cash benefit is received (e.g. government housing), the value of that benefit shall be quantified and stated in the
appropriate column above.

Board Directors April 2016-march 2017
Position
Board Member
Board Member
Board Member
Board Member
Board Member
Board Member
Board Member
Board Member
Board Chairman
Committee Member
Committee Member
Committee Member
Committee Member
Board Member
Board Member
Board Member
Board Member
Committee Member

Grand Total

Directors/co-opted
Members

MV
Board Fees Committee Fees Mileage

Director 1

143,000.00

165,100.00

308,100.00

Director 2

59,000.00

80,000.00

139,000.00

Director 3

157,000.00

167,400.00

324,400.00

Director 4

36,500.00

46,900.00

Director 5

129,000.00

11,000.00

83,400.00
140,000.00

Director 6

115,000.00

93,800.00

208,800.00

Director 7

157,000.00

151,300.00

308,300.00

Director 8
Chairman
Co-opted Member 1

129,000.00

153,600.00

282,600.00

216,000.00

89,900.00
48,300.00

305,900.00
48,300.00

Co-opted Member 2

34,500.00

Co-opted Member 3

20,700.00

34,500.00
20,700.00

27,600.00

27,600.00

Co-opted Member 4
Director 9

42,000.00

Chairman

60,000.00
42,000.00

Director 10

Other

Total Gross Paid
to Members

42,000.00
18,400.00

78,400.00
42,000.00
42,000.00

42,000.00
6,900.00

6,900.00

Stipend For Secretary -audit

15,000.00

Committee
Employer Statutory

72,666.00

15,000.00
72,666.00
909,361.30

909,361.30

909,361.30

3,439,927.30

Meeting Cost
1,327,500.00 1,203,066.00
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Senior Executive Compensation 2016/2017
Position Of
Senior Executive

Year

Salary

Gratuity &
Performance
Incentive

Travelling
Allowance or
Value of
Assigment of
Motor Vehicle

$M

$M

$M

Pension or
Other
Retirement
Benefits

Other
Non-Cash
Allowances Benefits
(Security & (housing)
Lunch
Allowance)

$M

$M

$M

1,980,600.00 15,956,849.85

Total
$M

CEO

2016/2017

9,195,840.00

3,707,128.80 975,281.01

0.00

98,000.04

Snr VP Finance

2016/2017

6,759,154.68

977,914.31

1,341,624.00

675,915.47

77,000.04

9,831,608.50

Snr VP ICT

2016/2017

6,759,154.68

946,026.44

1,341,624.00

675,915.47

77,000.04

9,799,720.63

VP Operations

2016/2017

5,645,422.80

822,148.96

1,284,896.14

564,542.28

77,000.04

8,394,010.22

Chief Internal Audit 2016/2017

4,993,126.90

722,937.91

1,341,624.00

499,312.69

77,000.04

7,634,001.54

VP Pharmaceutical

2016/2017

5,824,654.08

800,240.90

1,341,624.00

582,465.41

77,000.04

8,625,984.43

VP Human Resource
and Administration 2016/2017

5,107,730.67

3,802,860.35 1,341,624.00

467,493.75

57,750.03

10,777,458.80

VP Drug Serv

2016/2017

4,234,067.10

1,090,272.28 1,006,218.00

0.00

57,750.03

6,388,307.41

Procurement
Specialist

2016/2017

5,199,440.04

3,315,636.44 1,341,624.00

0.00

77,000.04

9,933,700.52

Project Manager

2016/2017

5,199,440.04

6,219,112.95 1,341,624.00

0.00

77,000.04

12,837,177.03

** Other Allowances represents lunch and security allowance for 2016/2017 where eligible
Notes
1. Where contractual obligations and allowances are stated in a foreign currency, the sum in that stated currency must
be clearly provided and not the Jamaica equivalent.
2. Other Allowances (including laundry,entertainment, housing utility, etc)
3. Where a non-cash benefit is received (e.g. government housing), the value of that benefit shall be quantified and
stated in the appropriate column above.

86

Corporate
Information
The National Health Fund of Jamaica is a statutory
organisation created bythe National Health Fund Act
(2003)
HEAD OFFICE: 6th Floor, The Towers, 25 Dominica
Drive, Kingston 5, St. Andrew,Jamaica
TELEPHONE: (876)906-1106
1-888-DIAL NHF (342-5643)
1-888-GO JADEP (465-2337)
FACSIMILE: (876)906-1105
WEBSITE: www.nhf.org.jm
FACEBOOK: www.facebook.com/nhfjamaica
TWITTER: www.twitter.com/nhfjamaica
YOUTUBE: www.youtube.com/nhfjamaica
INSTAGRAM: www.instagram.com/nhfjamaica
BANKS: Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited
National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited
AUDITOR: BDO
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